
For any apologies or requests for further information, or to give notice of a question to be 
asked by a member of the public  
Contact:  Denise French  
Tel: 01270 529643 
E-Mail: denise.french@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

 

Children and Families Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Monday, 16th November, 2009 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2009. 

 
3. Declaration of Interest/Party Whip   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and for members to declare the existence of a party whip in relation to 
any item on the agenda.  
 

 
 

4. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 

Public Document Pack



 A total period of 15 minutes is allocated for members of the public to make a statement(s) on 
any matter that falls within the remit of the Committee. 
  
Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes, but the Chairman will decide 
how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned, where there are a 
number of speakers. 
  
Note:  In order for officers to undertake any background research, it would be helpful if 
members of the public notified the Scrutiny officer listed at the foot of the agenda, at least one 
working day before the meeting with brief details of the matter to be covered. 
  

 
 

5. Challenges and Opportunities - Improving Outcomes for Children in Cheshire 
East  (Pages 9 - 22) 

 
 To receive a presentation from Lorraine Butcher, Head of Services for Children and Families. 

 
6. Scrutiny Review - Managing the Provision of School Places - Report on 

Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) and its implications for Cheshire 
East Council by the Task & Finish Group  (Pages 23 - 80) 

 
 To consider the final report of the Task/Finish Panel. 

 
7. Inspection of Youth Offending Services  (Pages 81 - 86) 
 
 To consider a report of the Strategic Director People. 

 
8. Children & Families Performance Score Card & Local Authority Ofsted Profile  

(Pages 87 - 98) 
 
 To consider a report of the Strategic Director People. 

 
9. Work Programme update  (Pages 99 - 104) 
 
 To consider a report of the Borough Solicitor. 

 
10. Forward Plan - extracts  (Pages 105 - 108) 
 
 To note the current Forward Plan, identify any new items and to determine whether any 

further examination of new issues is appropriate 

 
11. Consultations from Cabinet   
 
 To note any consultations referred to the Committee from Cabinet and to determine whether 

any further action is appropriate. 

 
12. Start times of meetings   
 
 The Chairman to lead a discussion on start times for future meetings. 

 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
held on Monday, 14th September, 2009 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, 

Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor R Westwood (Chairman) 
Councillor D Neilson (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Flude, J Goddard, O Hunter, A Kolker, G Merry, M Parsons, 
M Simon, L Smetham and D Thompson 

 
Apologies 

 
Councillors Rhoda  Bailey, D Beckford and T Jackson 

 
32 ALSO PRESENT  

 
Councillor J P Findlow, Portfolio Holder for Children and Family Services 

 
33 OFFICERS PRESENT  

 
L Butcher, Head of Services for Children and Families 
M Bayley, Children and Families  
F Bradley, Children and Families 
S Lawrence, Children and Families 
D J French, Legal and Democratic Services 

 
34 DECLARATION OF INTEREST/PARTY WHIP  

 
There were no declarations made. 

 
35 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION  

 
There were no Members of the Public present who wished to address the 
Committee. 

 
36 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 3 August 
be confirmed as a correct record subject to one amendment to minute number 31 
the second bullet point in paragraph 4 to read “Pay L £1,500…”. 

 
37 REDESIGN OF CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE  

 
The Committee was briefed by Lorraine Butcher, Head of Services for Children 
and Families, on key actions undertaken in relation to safeguarding services in 
Cheshire East.  Cheshire County Council had received a rating of 2 - Adequate 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



for its Safeguarding Services following the Annual Performance Assessment 
2008 with a number of issues identified: 
 

 Assessment timescales; 
 Securing placement stability for Looked After Children; 
 Adoption; 
 Fostering. 

 
The position at April/May 2009 was: 
 

 Ofsted inspections had judged provision at Redsands and Priors Hill 
Residential homes to be inadequate; 

 The Lord Laming report “The Protection of Children in England – 
Progress Report” had made a number of recommendations including that 
children in need had access to effective specialist support at an early 
stage and more needed to be done regarding safeguarding and child 
protection across all front-line services; 

 A review of frontline child care services had looked at various areas 
including access to services, caseloads, team management and size, 
computer systems and training and development; 

 An Audit and Review of Children under 5 subject to Child Protection 
Plans in Cheshire East had been conducted. 

 
A number of actions were now underway: 
 

 The Cheshire East Local Safeguarding Children Board had been 
established and an independent Chair appointed – David Mellor; 

 Regular performance reporting meetings had been arranged with the 
Chief Executive; 

 Two interim managers had been appointed; 
 A separation of the review process from the delivery of services had been 
introduced into the departmental structure; 

 A new team of agency workers had been appointed to support the team in 
Crewe; 

 Agency workers were filling current vacancies and providing additional 
capacity in Crewe, Macclesfield and Congleton; 

 Changes were being introduced to PARIS – the computerised system 
used by social workers; 

 Residential provision – Redsands was closed and two new residential 
units were scheduled to open in October/November; a Scrutiny 
Task/Finish Panel had been established to look into residential provision; 

 Risk assessment training for staff had been scheduled; 
 Briefings with key managers on audits had been held; 
 Unannounced internal proxy “Ofsted” type inspections had been held in 
Crewe; 

 A Supervision audit had been undertaken; 
 Amended Thresholds of Need guidance had been reissued to all staff and 
revised guidance to staff reissued on Referral, Assessment, Planning and 
Decision making; 

 Redesign of Services, Phase I was underway including processes for 
children in need such as assessment, referral, case management and 
child protection plans and ensuring arrangements were on a locality basis; 

 Redesign of Services, Phase 2 would focus on embedding across the 
Children’s Trust and all elements of the Children’s workforce the early 

Page 2



identification, prevention and targeting of support to children and families 
at risk of needing statutory intervention; 

 Refocusing of services to provide a wide range of family support and 
prevention whilst also maintaining a clear focus on children who are most 
at risk; 

 Halting the continuing increase in the numbers of children/families 
requiring statutory interventions through well co-ordinated arrangements 
for early intervention and prevention. 

 
During discussion of the item the following points were raised: 
 

 The Audit report that had been received in June had led to the view that 
additional temporary resources were required and some additional 
temporary staff had been appointed to work in Crewe.  A rolling 
programme to recruit permanent staff was underway; 

 A national Social Work Task Group had made recommendations around 
practice and training and Cheshire East already offered training 
opportunities and social care work experience to students; 

 The staffing structure for Children and Families Section would take into 
account the outcome of the redesign including joining up services where 
possible to reduce management levels; 

 The Committee requested the opportunity to visit the two new units that 
would replace Redsands. 

 
RESOLVED:  That: 
 
(a) the current position be noted and regular updates be submitted to the 
Committee; and 
 
(b) a visit be arranged for all Members of the Committee to the two properties that 
have replaced residential provision at Redsands.  

 
38 TEENAGE PREGNANCY  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director People on issues 
that had arisen from the National Support Team’s visit to Cheshire East which 
had arisen due to sustained underperformance in the reduction of teenage 
pregnancy rates across Cheshire.   
 
Lorraine Butcher, Head of Services for Children and Families, explained to the 
Committee that the Government’s Teenage Pregnancy Reduction Strategy 1998 
had set a target for Local Authorities to reduce by half the numbers of 
conceptions among under 18 year olds by 2010.  In Cheshire the rate had not 
reduced by a sufficient amount.  Under 18 conceptions were focused in small 
geographical areas with the pattern of conception being significantly greater than 
would be expected in these areas indicating that deprivation was only one of a 
number of responsible factors.  Such “hot spot” areas had historically received 
prevention services but rates had remained steady or increased.  Some areas 
had shown high levels of single or repeat terminations and there was concern for 
vulnerable groups such as care leavers.   
 
The National Support Team had produced a formal report after the visit with the 
key recommendations being: 
 

Page 3



 An Executive Board to be developed and chaired by the Directors from 
the Council and the Primary Care Trust to lead, drive forward and 
performance manage the teenage pregnancy prevention strategy; 

 A Senior Strategic post be recruited to the Council to lead on teenage 
pregnancy prevention – this was funded by Government grant; 

 As part of the Children’s Trust arrangements, data should be 
disseminated in an accessible and relevant format by all and between all 
partners, to better inform planning, targeting and performance 
management of the strategy; 

 The Council and PCT communications leads to be responsible for the 
urgent development of a Teenage Pregnancy Communication Strategy 
and Action Plan; 

 There should be an explicit and detailed young people’s Sexual Health 
Needs Assessment to inform the design and delivery of young people’s 
contraception and sexual health services as part of a strategic 
commissioning plan; 

 There should be a radical overhaul of current Contraceptive and Sexual 
Health (CASH) provision to ensure it meets young people’s needs. 

 
During discussion of the report the following issues were raised: 
 

 It was difficult to assess the success of work aimed at reducing Teenage 
Pregnancy rates as the figures were always about 15 months late; 

 Was the rate of Chlamydia high in Cheshire East?  In response it was 
explained that rates locally were not known but nationally rates were high; 

 How much detail was known – was it possible to identify specific schools 
with higher than average rates?  In response, Members were advised that 
the Council was aware of particular hotspot schools; 

 What age was considered appropriate for pupils to receive lessons in 
sexual health?  In response the Committee was informed that there was 
some evidence to suggest that it was effective to begin such lessons in 
Primary School; 

 It was important to consider the impact of alcohol; 
 Whether there was a link between housing needs and teenage pregnancy 
due to a lack of hostel type accommodation for young women; 

 Some young women made an active choice to get pregnant and it was 
important to consider aspirations and what choices young women felt 
were available to them. 

 
RESOLVED:  That the recommendations of the National Support Team be 
supported and Cheshire East Council work with the Primary Care Trust and other 
partners to finalise Action and Delivery Plans in line with the timescales outlined 
in the report. 

 
39 SUMMARY OF SCHOOL PERFORMANCE 2008-09  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director People outlining a 
summary of school performance across schools in Cheshire East for 2008 – 09.  
Members were advised that the report provided an early overview of results and 
more detailed information would be available at a later date which would allow 
clearer comparisons to be made. 
 
The main headlines were that: 
 

Page 4



 Key Stage 1 – at all levels results showed either an improvement or the 
same position as 2007 – 8.  Performance against statistical neighbours 
(10 other Councils) showed Cheshire East was 7 – 9th for the indicators of 
Reading, Writing, Maths and Science, with the national level placement 
being 26 -39th; 

 Key Stage 2 – in English the Council performed above national averages 
and was now ranked first for Level 5+ and first equal for Level 4+ against 
statistical neighbours; in Maths at Level 5+ the Council was first equal and 
at Level 4+ was second equal among statistical neighbours; in Science at 
Level 5+ there had been a drop in attainment which was in line with the 
picture nationally and the Council was third equal while at Level 4+ there 
had been no change in attainment and the Council was 3rd against 
statistical neighbours.  It was noted that 10 pupils had achieved Level 6+ 
at the end of Key Stage 2; 

 Key stage 3 – national assessment tests had been removed and Teacher 
Assessment data would be available at a later date; 

 Key Stage 4 – initial data showed 72% of pupils had achieved 5 or more 
A* - C grades; 59% of pupils had achieved 5 or more A* - C grades 
including English and Maths and 96% of pupils had achieved 5 or more A 
– G grades.  In all cases the results had improved compared with last 
year; 

 Post 16 – 98% of pupils had achieved a pass rate of A – E, 51% had 
achieved a Pass rate of A – B. 

 
During discussion of the report the following points were made: 
 

 The Committee welcomed the achievements of pupils and teaching staff 
in Cheshire East; 

 Was provision made for pupils who were “Gifted and Talented”?  In 
response, Members were advised that the Council would maintain a focus 
on provision for such pupils; 

 Schools were encouraged to provide personalised education and Ofsted 
would look at rates of individual progress among pupils to ensure all 
pupils made progress at a level appropriate for them; 

 The Committee was advised about Fischer Family Trust data that 
analysed pupils’ actual attainment at Key Stage 1 and from that would 
then predict attainment at GCSE stage. 

 
RESOLVED:  That the initial results be noted and a further report be submitted to 
a future meeting when more detailed information is available. 

 
 

40 PERFORMANCE AND OUTCOME REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS - 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director People outlining 
interim arrangements for reporting performance across Children and Families 
Services. 
 
Currently a performance score card was being trialled showing key priority areas 
matched against National Indicators, progress data against each priority, 
explanatory commentary and actions required with timescales and staff 
responsibility. 
 

Page 5



A Performance Steering Group was to be formed to look at ways of aligning 
Children and Families Service’s performance systems with those across other 
parts of the service.  The report showed the current score card that was being 
used in the interim and two other formats – an excel structure giving data for 
Looked After Children and a format used by Salford City Council which was felt to 
be an example of good practice. 
 
RESOLVED:  That 
 
(a) the current arrangements using the interim score card be supported; 
 
(b) for any future performance score card the Committee would support the 
following approach: 
 

 An explanatory commentary to show the story behind the figures; 
 Include action to be taken along with relevant responsible officer; 
 Colours used to be easy to look at and not too bright; 
 Consistent use of either percentages or figures within the same category; 

 
(c) a presentation be made to the next meeting of the Committee on the new 
Ofsted framework. 

 
41 THINK FAMILY  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Director People on the Think 
Family agenda which had been one of the Big Ideas underpinning the proposals 
for establishing two new Unitary Authorities in Cheshire.  The Big Idea had a 
number of strands: 
 

 It was felt that the organising principles often used by Councils when 
setting up departments were artificial and irrelevant; 

 There was an ambition to bring services together not on the basis of the 
ideas of the professionals but on the basis of experiences and perceptions 
of the people who use those services; 

 In particular, it was believed that a fundamental experience of most 
people is that of being or having been part of a family. 

 
When adopting a Think Family approach it was important to use “family” in an 
embracing and inclusive way that embraced families of every sort.  Think Family 
could be seen as an aspiration whereby the Council would not respond to 
people’s needs in a narrow way but rather would put services together in ways 
that reflected people’s lives.   
 
The report outlined that “Think Family” had its origins in the Social Exclusion Task 
Form and the Department for Children, Schools and Families who had made 
additional resources available: 
 

 £100,000 was allocated to the Parenting Experts programme and this 
would continue; 

 £237,991 had been allocated as new funding form 1 April 2009 of which 
£143,000 would go into establishing Parenting Early Intervention 
Programmes to help mothers and fathers of children aged 8 – 13 at risk of 
poor outcomes, to improve their parenting skills.   

  

Page 6



The Appendix to the report listed a number of other Think Family issues including 
Obesity whereby good work could be done in school but it was important to also 
focus upon the family environment.   
 
RESOLVED:  That the report be received and the Think Family approach be 
supported. 

 
 

42 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee considered an update report on the current position with the Work 
Programme. 
 
A number of items on the Work Programme had been progressed and the 
Committee was to receive training on Corporate Parenting on 25 September 
2009. 
 
RESOLVED:  that the current position with the Work Programme be noted. 

 
 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 10.30 am and concluded at 12.35 pm 

 
Councillor R Westwood (Chairman) 

 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Challenges and Opportunities
Improving Outcomes for Children in Cheshire 

East

Lorraine Butcher

Head of Service for Children & Families

Cheshire East Council A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 5

P
a
g
e
 9



Challenges and Opportunities

Vision

� a place where all children and young people are 
supported well to maximise their life choices

� responsive, locally based services, that make sense to 
children, young people and their families, that 
addresses their needs early

� a place where no child is left behind because 
organisations do not work together

P
a

g
e
 1

0



Challenges and Opportunities

Challenges:

� the context – LGR, general election, economy……

� organisational and professional cultures

� insecurities

� tackling inequalities

� stopping things that do not make a difference

� creating the conditions that enable us to  make a step-change in 

how we work

� managing expectations

P
a
g
e
 1

1



Challenges and Opportunities

Challenges – in real terms

� safeguarding - how well are we doing?

� continuing to improve learning outcomes

� narrowing the gap

� joining up delivery within the Children’s Trust

� transforming how we work to deliver better outcomes

� maximising the use of our resources from a declining 

resource base

P
a

g
e
 1

2



Challenges and Opportunities

Transformation principles:

1) Keeping children safe and well

- to deliver services that are responsive to need, 
that focus upon the identification of needs 
earlier, to reduce the need for statutory 
interventions and costly specialist services later 
in a child’s life

- services are refocused to provide a wide range 
of family support and prevention whilst 
maintaining a clear focus on children who are 
most at risk

P
a
g
e
 1

3



Challenges and Opportunities

2) Locally Based Services/Easy Access

- for services to be delivered locally and in a 
way which makes sense to children and families

3) Managing our costs

- work within a framework that optimises the 
best use of available resources

- harnesses the collaborative support, 
engagement and pooling of resources across the 
Children’s Trust – Local Authority, schools, 
partner agencies

P
a

g
e
 1

4



Challenges and Opportunities

4) A culture of high expectation and high performance

- that children and family services in Cheshire 
East at a minimum are rated as ‘performing 
well’ progressing to ‘performing excellently’
in 3 years

5) Core business – it’s all about the outcomes

- priority is given to core business which is 
essential to securing improved outcomes for 
children and young people

P
a
g
e
 1

5



Challenges and Opportunities

The emerging work programme

i. Curriculum support to schools

Objective:  To become self financing by April 2011, with 
milestone implementation of existing commitments within 
2009/10 and 2011/12

ii. Transport – Mainstream/SEN

Objective:  Improved efficiency against existing costs.  

P
a

g
e
 1

6



Challenges and Opportunities

iii. Review of DSG

Objective:  To ensure delivery of education/learning is secured 

through a funding formula that is transparent, objective and 
promotes continual improvement in learning outcomes.

Objective:  That school activity is self financing and all costs are 
appropriately borne by DSG

Objective:  To secure value for money in the funding of school 
provision while also securing improved learning outcomes

Objective:  To secure maximum delegation to schools 
(schools/clusters)

P
a
g
e
 1

7



Challenges and Opportunities

iv. School Organisation/21st Century Schools

Objective:  To remove surplus provision within a framework of 

securing improved learning outcomes

Objective:  Review the use of surplus school premises in the 
context of the development of integrated service delivery locally

Objective:  Review the arrangements for the commissioning of 
SEN

P
a

g
e
 1

8



Challenges and Opportunities

v. Redesign of Integrated Service Delivery

Objective:  Halt the continuing increase in the number of 

children/families requiring statutory interventions, through well 
co-ordinated arrangements for early intervention and 
prevention

vi. Children’s Centres/Family Centres

Objective:  Secure integrated delivery of family support 

arrangements within a framework of early intervention and 
prevention

Objective:  Review the delivery of children’s centre services 
with separate family support services working from different 
settings within a framework of early intervention and 
prevention

P
a
g
e
 1

9



Challenges and Opportunities

vii. Transformation of service delivery for children and 
families with LDD

Objective:  Transform how services are commissioned and 

provided to children and young people with Disabilities within a
context of personalisation, choice and prevention

viii.Review Residential Provision

Objective:  Review the commissioning of residential provision to

secure improved arrangements for young people

P
a

g
e
 2

0



Challenges and Opportunities

ix. Integrated and Targeted Youth Support

Objective:  To deliver joined up support to young people locally

and incorporating both universal services and targeted services 
such as Youth Offending Service

x. Post 16 Funding Transfer

Objective:  Review the commissioning of post 16 performance 

and outcomes to inform future commissioning of provision from 
2012/13

Objective:  Secure efficiencies across the Sub-region for the 
commissioning and delivery of post 16 learning

P
a
g
e
 2

1



Challenges and Opportunities

Opportunities

- to work together differently

- to collaborate

- to jointly commission, and jointly save

- to co-locate services

- to support

- to connect

P
a

g
e
 2

2



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO: CHILDREN AND FAMILIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
16 November 2009 

Report of: Task/Finish Panel  
Subject/Title: Managing the Provision of School Places  

Report on Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) and its 
implications for Cheshire East Council by the Task & Finish 
Group 

___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary  
 
1.1 A Task & Finish Group was established by the Cheshire East Council’s 

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee.  Its remit was to review the 
TLC inheritance from the former County Council, and consider the 
needs of Cheshire East in relation to future changes to the schools 
system.  The Group’s work has been informed by the thorough review 
of TLC by a former County Council Scrutiny Panel, first-hand 
information from EIP members and Headteachers, and their own 
considerations of the evidence available with regard to supply and 
demand for school places.   

 
1.2 This document provides an executive summary of the Report produced 

by the Group.  The Report describes the work of the Task & Finish 
Group in reviewing the recommendations of the Cheshire County 
Council TLC report and considering the implications for Cheshire East.  
It then describes the current position in Cheshire East with regard to 
surplus places and the challenges of managing the provision of school 
places in future.  It outline the attributes of a new system for managing 
school places, taking into consideration key factors such as schools’ 
cost-effectiveness, academic performance and local popularity.  
Finally, the Report presents the Group’s conclusions, from which flow a 
set of recommendations which it commends to Cheshire East Council.  
Further detail on each section of the Report is given below. 

 
 

1.2 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.2.1 The Cheshire East Children & Families Scrutiny Committee noted that 

the new Council would need to consider how to manage the gap 
between supply and demand of school places. The Committee 
therefore commissioned a Transforming Learning Communities Task & 
Finish Group to take this matter forward and consider how the 
processes should be managed across East Cheshire.  Section 1 of the 

Agenda Item 6Page 23



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

report gives details of the Group’s membership, Terms of Reference, 
and methodology. 

 
 

1.3    TRANSFORMING LEARNING COMMUNITIES (TLC) 
 

1.3.1 Two different but related challenges underpinned the establishment of 
Transforming Learning Communities (TLC).  The first of these was a 
forecast decrease in Cheshire of numbers of children aged 0-15, 
resulting in surplus school places in both primary and, ultimately, 
secondary schools.  Data at the time forecast a reduction, between 
January 1999 and January 2009, of nearly 14% in primary school 
pupils on roll across the whole County.  This was accompanied by 
projections of similar figures for surplus primary school places over the 
period, with knock-on effects for secondary schools.  The second 
challenge was the Government’s new policy agenda for education 
known as ‘Every Child Matters’ (ECM).  Cheshire County Council 
organised a conference for key stakeholders in 2004 to discuss how to 
respond to both the ECM requirement to integrate children’s services 
delivery and the issue of surplus school places.  As a result, the 
Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) process was established. 

 
 

1.4   CHESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL SCRUTINY REVIEW OF TLC 
 

1.4.1 The TLC process was reviewed by a Scrutiny Review Panel from the 
former Cheshire County Council over the period 2007-2008.  The 
purpose of the Review was to assess whether the TLC process was 
successful in addressing the issue of surplus school places, and to 
review the consultation process which flowed from TLC proposals to 
tackle surplus places, so that lessons could be learned for the future.  
The Scrutiny Review Panel’s report commended TLC for achieving 
some valuable outcomes but concluded that some key changes had 
not been made and significant opportunities had been missed.  Main 
findings are summarised below. 

 

1.4.2 The Panel found that TLC had removed many surplus places but this 
was insufficient and too slow to keep place with falling school rolls and 
the changing demographic profile of Cheshire. The Panel 
recommended an ongoing programme to manage school places, 
reducing these by about 800 per year.  The Panel noted considerable 
problems with all the processes involved in TLC, which were generally 
viewed as over-long and complex.  Although the formation of 
federations was an intended outcome of TLC the Scrutiny Review 
Panel questioned its level of acceptance by schools and suggested 
that federation became a method for avoiding difficult school closure 
decisions.   

 
1.4.3 With regard to small and rural schools, the Panel questioned the 

fairness of the present Funding Formula. Small schools attract a 

Page 24



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

proportionally greater level of resource than larger schools, which is 
questionable in cases where a school is not really serving its local 
community.  The Panel concluded that the LMS Funding Formula 
required a fundamental review, to consider whether small school 
allowances deliver educational benefits appropriate to local needs.  
The Panel recommended the development of a small and rural schools 
policy.  The Panel noted the prevalence of mixed age teaching in rural 
schools and recommended that this be minimised.  Overall, the Panel 
suggested that the transformational aspirations of TLC had been 
overshadowed by the issue of surplus school places. 

 
 

1.5   PERCEPTIONS OF TLC BY EIP REPRESENTATIVES 
 
1.5.1 Whilst the TLC Scrutiny Panel had received a great deal of evidence, 

the Task & Finish Group wished to hear at first-hand the views of some 
of the people involved. The Group interviewed ten individuals, 
representing the EIPs and the East Cheshire Association of Primary 
Heads (ECAPH), about their own perceptions of TLC.  Section 4 of the 
report provides examples of the views given. 

 
 

1.6   THE CHANGING PICTURE OF PROVISION OF SCHOOL PLACES IN 
CHESHIRE EAST 

 
1.6.1 This Section of the Report presents data illustrating the challenges 

Cheshire East Council will face in matching the demand for school 
places with provision.  It provides long-term data on national 
demographic change followed by the emerging picture on live births for 
Cheshire East.  Such data illustrate the relationship between 
demographic change over time and outcomes of surplus or insufficient 
school places at both primary and secondary schools.  Demographic 
data from ONS reveal a changing picture, depending on the timescale 
under consideration.  Data for the last 100 years for England and Wales 
suggest a steady, long-term national decline in the overall number of live 
births.  More recent data suggest that population numbers are 
increasing, at least in the short term. Because of the strong positive 
relationship between increasing numbers of live births and demand for 
school places, the current rate of fall in pupil numbers used by the TLC 
Review may in fact be in the process of longer-term reversal.   

 
1.6.2 The graphical data presented in this section of the Report demonstrates 

a complex picture. The implications of the TLC review for Cheshire East 
were that some 400 school places would need to be removed each year 
in order to keep pace with currently falling rolls and not exceed the target 
of 10% surplus places by 2011. This is probably correct, given that this 
target applies to the near future.  However, data projections also indicate 
the shifting nature of the trends in live births, which will impact on the 
demand for primary and secondary school places over the longer term.  
This phenomenon can be thought of as a ‘wave’ of demand which 

Page 25



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

fluctuates over time and across specific age cohorts, sometimes quite 
sharply. Cheshire East will need to build into its system of school 
provision the capacity to accommodate such marked rises and dips in 
demand. 

 
 

1.7 THE CURRENT POSITION BY EIP 
 
1.7.1 The fact that the new Council has a large number of small primary 

schools is highly pertinent to its management of school places 
provision.  With an average size of 190 pupils, these primary schools 
are smaller than those in comparable Authorities.  This Section 
provides data on surplus places, current and projected, across the 
twelve EIP families of primary schools. This section also highlights the 
relationship between the appropriate provision of school places and 
other key factors such as popularity, academic performance and cost 
effectiveness.  A small number of schools are used as ‘cases’ which 
exemplify the complexity of the overall picture.  

 
1.7.2 Appendix B of the Report provides Tables on each of the EIPs and 

enables rapid identification of primary schools with over 20% surplus 
places.  Appendix B also provides data relating to each school’s 
capacity/surplus places; numbers on roll; cost effectiveness (compared 
with each EIP average); academic success; and popularity with local 
parents.   

 
1.7.3 With regard to secondary schools, we have a capacity of 24,287 places 

and 23,565 pupils on role, a figure projected to fall further over the next 
five years to below 21,000 pupils.  We are facing 15% surplus places 
within the next eight years; thereafter, the need for places will increase 
but to a level significantly below current demand.  Cheshire East faces 
the challenge of responding to this changing wave of demand.   

 
 
1.8 DEVELOPING A NEW SYSTEM TO MANAGE THE PROVISION OF 

SCHOOL PLACES WITHIN CHESHIRE EAST 
 

This Section outlines the Group’s deliberations on key attributes for a new 
system of managing the provision of school places, one which 
incorporates appropriate safeguards.  The section also highlights key sets 
of data that need to be collected – and presented together - in order to 
ensure an accurate and clear picture.  The weight of evidence provided in 
earlier sections indicates the need for a new system of managing the 
provision of school places within Cheshire East Council.  The Task & 
Finish Group consider that the main attributes of any new system should 
involve the following: 

 

• A new name for the process, to indicate a clear break with TLC. 

• A sound evidence base to provide accurate and timely data.  The new 
concept of school popularity (measured by the percentage of pupils within 

Page 26



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

a school’s designated catchment area actually attending that school) 
should be included. 

• The new system should be objective but recognise the impact of school 
closure on local communities. 

• Continuous management of changing circumstances, rather than a large 
catch-up programme. An early warning system is needed to alert the 
Council when surplus places at a school exceed a certain number or when 
costs exceed a certain sum. 

• The new system should be as transparent as possible and should involve 
swift and decisive decision-making.  Adequate support should be provided 
to schools. 

• The issue of surplus places should be approached from a local 
perspective, such as Locality or EIP. 

• There needs to be a clear policy framework for small and rural schools. 

• There needs to be close and early working with EIPs, Diocese and others. 

• A clear policy needs to be developed for the role of Federations. 

• There needs to be an immediate update of the Schools Funding Formula. 

• This new system needs to be interfaced with both the Primary Capital and 
Building Schools for the Future Programmes. 

 
 
1.9 CONCLUSIONS 
 
1.9.1 The former Cheshire County Council’s ‘Transforming Learning 

Communities’ was an ambitious programme designed to examine 
educational provision within the County in the light of the ‘Every Child 
Matters’ (ECM) agenda, and at the same time reduce the number of 
surplus places in Cheshire Schools. Although there were many positive 
outcomes from TLC, its multiple requirements seem to have stretched 
the authority’s resources and overshadowed transformational aspects 
of the programme.  

 
1.9.2 The lessons from TLC are that Cheshire East needs better tools in 

terms of policies and information systems, and a better process for the 
review, consultation and decision phases of any change to school 
arrangements. The review of the Funding Formula is urgent and should 
be adequately resourced. Given the large number of small and rural 
schools across East Cheshire, many of which fall below the minimum 
size recommended by the Audit Commission, the Council needs a 
clear policy framework for small and rural schools.  

 
1.9.3 The TLC process was received unfavourably by both the Church of 

England Diocese of Chester and the Catholic Diocese of Shrewsbury. 
In view of the numbers of church schools within Cheshire East, 
attention should be paid to improving future relations with both 
Dioceses. 

 
1.9.4 Cheshire East Council inherits a different position than that forecast at 

the start of the former County TLC programme in two respects. Firstly 
the fall in rolls is not as great as was forecast, due to a reversal of the 

Page 27



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

birth rate from 2003 onwards.  Secondly, the number of surplus places 
removed under TLC has fallen short of forecast.  With regard to the 
match between supply and demand, data projections indicate the 
shifting nature of the trends in live births.  This will impact on the 
demand for primary and secondary school places over the longer term.  
This ‘wave’ of demand fluctuates over time and across specific age 
cohorts, sometimes quite sharply. Cheshire East will therefore need to 
consider how to build into its system of school provision the capacity to 
accommodate such marked rises and dips in demand.  However, we 
lack sufficiently robust and up to date information and need better data 
for future management purposes. 

 
1.9.5 Any future strategy needs to recognise the requirement to manage 

surplus places on an area basis and in line with changing 
demographics. In addition, parental choice with regard to school places 
is a policy imperative with which the Council must comply.  Future 
strategy therefore needs to reward success by making appropriate 
investment in popular and successful schools and take decisive action 
relative to unpopular and academically weak schools.  Forming a 
federation between two schools could be the first step towards school 
amalgamation, or the closure of the less successful or needed school. 
Federation should be understood as one of several options for school 
governance. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Section 9 of the Report makes a set of recommendations which it 

commends to the Council.  These are outlined below: 
 

• Cheshire East Council should review its commissioning of school 
places in accordance with the needs of the communities served by the 
Council and build upon the evidence base considered by this Task & 
Finish Group.   

 

• The review of how the Council commissions school places should be 
conducted transparently and include all stakeholders. It should include 
commissioning arrangements for the provision of learning for all 
children and young people, including those with SEN and additional 
needs, and gifted and talented children.  In view of the lack of special 
schools in Cheshire East, special needs considerations should be fully 
integrated into any system for the management of surplus places in 
main stream schools.  The review should cover all geographical areas 
and be phased according to priority needs.   

 

• The review of the Funding Formula for schools should be prioritised 
and should be driven by the need to improve outcomes for children and 
young people.  The review should be conducted swiftly.  The Council 
should consider what resources are required to enable this to be 

Page 28



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

prioritised. There needs to be a clear policy framework for small and 
rural schools. 

 

• The Council should develop a guidance note for Members on the role 
of federation and other forms of school governance in achieving 
structural transformation of education and reducing surplus places. 

 

• It is clear that the quality of data needs to be improved and the range of 
data extended. Adequate resource must be allocated to ensuring that 
such up-to-date information is readily available, in user-friendly form, to 
Members and Officers.  

 

• The role of the Educational Improvement Partnership (EIP) is growing 
and they are now key stakeholder.  Any new system should ensure that 
they are supported and enabled by the Council to formulate school 
reorganisation proposals. 

 

• Future changes to school organisation may well require full cooperation 
of the respective Dioceses. It is recommended that more attention is 
paid to these relationships and that full account is taken of the special 
circumstances of church schools, during both the consideration and 
consultation stages of the process.  

 

• The Group recommends that Cheshire East Council develop a sound 
future investment strategy for its schools estate. The investment 
strategy needs to be based upon robust and up to date information 
which in turn leads to timely conclusions and firm decisive action after 
appropriate consultation. Any proposed actions need to be adequately 
supported. The schools involved need to be fully supported but there 
also needs to be sufficient resources to manage the 
communications/public relations process. 

 

• The Council needs to develop a strategic vision for its future 
investment in schools in order to access vital sources of longer term 
external funding (via PCP and BSF) which will help address some of 
the issues raised in this report.  The investment strategy must be 
informed by a robust and defensible methodology, which should now 
be developed.   

 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 Cheshire East Council urgently requires an appropriate future investment 

strategy.  This is needed before we can re-submit our Strategy for Change to 
the Primary Capital Programme (PCP), and submit our statement of ‘Readiness 
to Deliver’ to the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme.  Both are 
potential major sources of investment for the next ten years and provide an 
opportunity we cannot afford to miss. 

 
4.0 Wards Affected 

Page 29



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

 
4.1 All Wards 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 All Members 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 Every Child Matters/ BREEAM / Links with Health 
 
7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
7.1 N/A 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
8.1 N/A 
 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1 Most school reorganisation proposals have to comply with a statutory 

process which is laid down in regulations and guidance. Any new 
policies and procedures set up by Cheshire East Council will need to 
be compatible with these statutory requirements. 

 
10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 N/A 
 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1 N/A 
 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13.0 Access to Information 

 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 
 Name:  Peter Davies 
 Designation:  Interim Manager – School Organisation and Development 

           Tel No: 01244 972081 
            Email: peter.davies@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 30



 

 
 
 
 

 
 

MANAGING THE PROVISION OF SCHOOL PLACES: 

REPORT ON TLC AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR  

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 

BY THE TASK & FINISH GROUP 

 

 

 

 

Lead Officer: Peter Davies  
 
October 2009 

 

Page 31



 

 1 

C O N T E N T S 

  Page 
   
Acknowledgements   2 
   
Report Overview  3 
   
Purpose of the 
Report 

 3 

   
1.  Introduction 4 
1.1 Origins of this Report 4 
1.2 Terms of Reference of the Task & Finish Group 5 
1.3 Membership of the Task & Finish Group 5 
1.4 Methodology 5 
   
2. Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) 6 
2.1 Origins of TLC 6 
2.2 TLC Outcomes 8 
   
3. Cheshire County Council’s Scrutiny Panel Review of 

TLC 
8 

3.1 Methodology 8 
3.2 Main Findings/Recommendations from the Review 8 
   
4. Perceptions of TLC from EIP Representatives 11 
   
5. A Changing Picture of Provision of School Places  13 
5.1 Demographic Change and School Places 13 
5.2 Small and Rural Schools 19 
   
6. The Current Position by EIPs 20 
6.1 Primary Schools across EIPs 20 
6.2 Surplus Places in Secondary Schools across EIPs 27 
   
7. Developing a New System for Cheshire East 29 
7.1 Presentation of data 29 
   
8. Conclusions 30 
8.1 Recommendations 31 
   
Appendices Appendix A 34 
 Appendix B 38 
   

 

Page 32



 

 2 

Acknowledgements 
 
This review of the TLC inheritance from the former County Council, and the needs of Cheshire 
East in relation to future changes to the schools system, has been conducted by a Task & 
Finish Group drawn from Cheshire East Council’s Children and Families Scrutiny Committee. 
 
I would like to thank Cllrs Flude, Kolker, Merry, Neilson, Smetham and Thompson for all their 
hard work and diligence in carrying out the work. 
 
To carry out the work we relied partly on the very thorough review by a former County Council 
Scrutiny Panel earlier this year and partly on our own considerations which were informed and 
guided by Peter Davies and Bryan Slater. We would like to thank them for passing on their 
expertise and giving their advice in such a patient and thorough manner. Most of us were fairly 
inexperienced in education matters and they guided us through the learning curve extremely 
skillfully. 
 
Similarly we would like to thank the EIP members and the Headteachers who gave us first 
hand the benefit of their views on TLC and their views on the improvements which could be 
made. In particular we would like to thank Andy Robinson the Chairman of the Macclesfield 
EIP and his colleagues for giving us an insight into how that particular partnership has 
developed. 
 
Thanks are also due to Denise French and Sarah Baxter for their excellent administrative 
support. 
 
We commend our work to the Cheshire East Cabinet and request they give it full and fair 
consideration. 
 
 
Councillor Ray Westwood 
Chairman, Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 

 

Page 33



 

 3 

REPORT OVERVIEW 
 
Section 1 describes the origins of this report in the work of the Task & Finish Group 
which was set up by Cheshire East Council to consider the implications of findings 
from the TLC process.  It outlines the Group’s terms of reference, membership and 
methodology. 
 
Section 2 explains the policy context and social demographic context which led to the 
establishment of the Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) process. 
 
Section 3 outlines the main conclusions and recommendations from Cheshire County 
Council’s TLC Scrutiny Review Panel.  
 
Section 4 presents evidence gathered by the Task & Finish Group on local 
perceptions (at EIP and ECAPH level) of the TLC process.  
 
Section 5 presents data illustrating the challenges Cheshire East Council faces in 
matching the demand for school places with provision.  It provides long-term data on 
national demographic change followed by the emerging picture on live births for 
Cheshire East.  This helps us understand the relationship between demographic 
change over time and its outcome in surplus or insufficient school places at both 
primary and secondary schools.  This section also highlights issues relating to the 
large number of small and rural schools within the catchment of Cheshire East.  
 
Section 6 describes the current position with regard to surplus places across EIPs. 
This section also highlights the relationship between the provision of school places 
and other key factors such as cost-effectiveness, academic performance and local 
popularity.  It uses a small number of schools as ‘cases’ which exemplify the 
complexity of the overall picture.  
  
Section 7 outlines the Group’s deliberations on key attributes for a new system of 
managing the provision of school places, one which incorporates appropriate 
safeguards.  The section also highlights key sets of data that need to be collected – 
and presented together - in order to ensure an accurate and clear picture. 
 
Section 8 presents the main conclusions from the Task & Finish Group.  
 
Section 9 presents the Group’s recommendations. 
 

Page 34



 

 4 

EAST CHESHIRE PROVISION OF SCHOOL PLACES: 
FINDINGS ON TLC FROM THE TASK & FINISH GROUP AND 
IMPLICATIONS FOR CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT:  
 
The purpose of this report is: 
 

• To report on the work of the Task & Finish Group in reviewing the 
recommendations of the Cheshire County Council TLC Report and 
considering the implications for Cheshire East. 

• To describe the current position in Cheshire East with regard to surplus 
places and the challenges of managing the provision of school places in 
future.  

• To outline the attributes of a new system for managing school places, taking 
into consideration key factors such as schools’ cost-effectiveness, academic 
performance and local popularity. 

• To present the Group’s conclusions, from which flow a set of 
recommendations to Cheshire East Council. 

 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Origins of this Report 
 
It is understood that the present Government wishes to see an educational 
management system in which weak schools that need to be closed are closed quickly 
and replaced by new ones where necessary, whilst the best schools should be 
enabled to expand and spread their ethos and success. The origins of this report lie in 
Cheshire East Council’s need to develop such a system.   
 
At a meeting of the Cheshire East Children & Families Scrutiny Committee, held on 
23rd September 2008, it was noted that the new Council would need to consider how 
to manage the gap between supply and demand of school places. The Committee 
resolved that a task group should be formed to take this matter forward and consider 
how the processes should be managed. The Committee therefore commissioned a 
Transforming Learning Communities Task & Finish Group.   
 
 
1.2 Terms of Reference of the Task & Finish Group 
 
The Terms of Reference of the Task & Finish Group were: 
 

Page 35



 

 5 

• To review the conclusions and recommendations made by the former County 
Council’s Scrutiny Committee report on Transforming Learning Communities 
(TLC). 

• To determine the relevance of the former County Council Scrutiny Committee’s 
conclusions and recommendations to the operating context of Cheshire East 
Council. 

• To take stock of the current position with regard to surplus places within Cheshire 
East. 

• To decide which conclusions and recommendations should be commended to the 
Portfolio Holder for Children & Families and to the Cabinet, in the context of the 
development of Cheshire East’s Children’s Plan. 

 
 
1.3 Membership 
 
The following Councillors were members of the Task & Finish Group: 
 

• Cllr Ray Westwood (Chairman) (Conservative, Rope) 

• Cllr Dorothy Flude (Labour, Crewe South) 

• Cllr Andrew Kolker (Conservative, Congleton Rural) 

• Cllr Gillian Merry (Conservative, Sandbach) 

• Cllr David Neilson (Liberal Democrat, Macclesfield Town) 

• Cllr Lesley Smetham (Conservative, Macclesfield Forest) 

• Cllr Diana Thompson (Conservative, Bollington and Disley). 
 
Cllr Paul Findlow, the Portfolio Holder for Children and Families and Cllr Rhoda Bailey, 
Cabinet Support Member, attended meetings on occasions when briefings were 
provided.   
 
 
1.4 Methodology 
 
The Task & Finish Group met on six occasions between April and September 2009.   
The Group received a series of briefings prepared by Officers of the Council and 
considered findings from the former County Council Scrutiny Review Panel’s report on 
TLC, and the implications for Cheshire East Council.  The Task & Finish Group noted 
the comprehensive nature of the TLC Scrutiny Panel Review.   The Group was 
impressed with the methodology used and the evidence obtained.  The Group also 
noted comments in the report relating to the effectiveness of the TLC process and 
sought to hear comments first hand by meeting with representatives of Headteachers 
and EIP Chairmen. 
 
In its considerations the Group also considered the present Government’s wishes to 
see an educational management system in which weak schools that need to be 
closed are closed quickly and replaced by new ones where necessary, whilst the best 
schools should be enabled to expand and spread their ethos and success. The origins 

Page 36



 

 6 

of this report lie in Cheshire East Council’s need to develop such a system.  The 
report seeks to provide some insight into the complex task facing Cheshire East in 
matching its provision of school places with local demand over the short and longer-
term, in a context where the effectiveness, efficiency and equity of resource 
distribution will be increasingly important, as will local popularity of schools.   
 
 
2.   TRANSFORMING LEARNING COMMUNITIES (TLC) 
 
2.1 Origins of TLC 
 
It is understood that two different but related challenges underpinned the 
establishment of Transforming Learning Communities (TLC).  The first of these was a 
forecast decrease in Cheshire of numbers of children aged 0-15, resulting in surplus 
school places in both primary and, ultimately, secondary schools (see Figure 1 below).  
 
Figures 1 and 2 below are taken from the TLC Review1.  Figure 1 shows the data on 
historical trends in pupils on roll across Cheshire available at the time of the Review. 
Figure 2 shows the forecast of surplus places, in percentage terms, for both primary 
and secondary education sectors across the whole of Cheshire. 

 
 

Figure 1 

 
 

                                            
1
 ‘Transforming Learning Communities in Cheshire: A Case for Change’ 

Historic Trend in Pupils on Roll at Cheshire Maintained 

Primary Schools, 1999 - 2008

56866

56160

55342

54389

52321

50759

49993

57528
57929

51321

53381

46000

48000

50000

52000

54000

56000

58000

60000

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Cheshire Maintained Primary Schools

A reduction of 7,936 pupils 

on roll at schools from Jan' 

1999 to Jan' 2009 (-13.7%)

Source: PLASC, Jan' 1999 - Jan' 2009

Note: Totals Includes Special Unit pupils but excludes nursery class pupils

Page 37



 

 7 

Figure 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

The second challenge was the Government’s new policy agenda for education known 
as ‘Every Child Matters’ (ECM).      

 
In September 2004 Cheshire County Council organised a conference for key 
stakeholders to discuss how to respond to both the ECM requirement to integrate 
children’s services delivery and the issue of surplus school places. Transforming 
Learning Communities (TLC) was an outcome of this conference, where seven key 
principles were drawn up to underpin the TLC process: 
 
1. Deliver better integration of Children’s Services under the ‘Every Child Matters’ 

agenda. 
 
2. Raise and sustain high educational standards. 
 
3. Provide more social inclusion and equality of opportunity. 
 
4. Provide better choice and access to learning for learners, through increased 

collaboration between schools, colleges and other providers. 
 
5. Give special protection and support to vulnerable communities. 
 
6. Offer longer-term stability and greater certainty for the foreseeable future. 
 
7. Develop lifelong and community learning. 
 

Forecast of Cheshire Surplus Places % for Primary and Secondary Education Sectors, 

2007 - 2011

11.6%

13.0%

14.1%

15.4%

16.3%

17.3%

6.7%

5.8%

6.9%

7.9%

9.1%

10.4%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011Forecast Year

S
u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s
 /
 %

Primary Forecast Secondary Forecast

Actual Data Forecast Data

The basis of the 2007-2011 forecast data is the 

Jan, PLASC 2006 dataset

Page 38



 

 8 

2.2 TLC outcomes 
 
TLC was expected to deliver a number of important outcomes: 
 

• By 2011, have no schools with more than 25% (or 30) unfilled places 

• By 2011, have no more than 10% unfilled places overall 

• Ensure that schools be of an appropriate and sustainable size 

• Encourage the move towards all-through schools 

• Match Net Capacity (NC) with Published Admission Number (PAN) 

• Identify alternative uses for accommodation 

• Facilitate the development of Extended Services 

• Facilitate the development of collaborative 14–19 arrangements  

• Establish federation arrangements 

• Be consistent with Every Child Matters and key principles underpinning TLC 
itself. 
 
 

3. THE CHESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL SCRUTINY REVIEW OF TLC 
 

The TLC process was reviewed by a Scrutiny Review Panel from the former Cheshire 
County Council over the period 2007-2008.  The Terms of Reference for the Review 
(given its limited resources) were to assess whether the TLC process was addressing 
the issue of surplus school places, and to review the consultation process which 
flowed from TLC proposals to tackle surplus places, so that lessons could be learned 
for the future.  The Scrutiny Review Panel’s report commended TLC for achieving 
some valuable outcomes but concluded that some key changes had not been made 
and significant opportunities had been missed. The Panel suggested that the 
transformational aspirations of TLC had been overshadowed by the issue of surplus 
school places. 

 
 

3.1 Methodology 
 
The TLC process was led by senior consultants such as former head teachers and 
Directors of Education. TLC reviewed and evaluated schools on a phased basis 
across Cheshire over a three year period.   
 
 
3.2 Main Findings/Recommendations from the Review  
 
The following sub-sections briefly outline relevant and significant findings, conclusions 
and recommendations from the Panel’s review of TLC.  These relate to: the 
management of school places; consultation, option generation and decision making 
processes for targeted schools; the role of federation in addressing surplus places; 

Page 39



 

 9 

issues around small and rural schools, particularly the LMS Funding Formula; and 
opportunities missed under TLC. 

 
 

3.2.1 Managing surplus school places 
 
The Panel found that TLC had removed many surplus places.  Nevertheless, this 
reduction was considered insufficient and too slow to keep place with falling school 
rolls or the changing demographic profile of Cheshire.  
 
Panel recommendation: 
 
The Panel recommended an ongoing programme to manage school places, reducing 
these by about 800 per year across the former County Council area. 
 
 
3.2.2 Consultation, option generation and decision making processes 
 
The Panel noted considerable problems with all the processes involved, which were 
generally viewed as over-long and complex.  Schools not subject to an ‘option’ 
curtailed their involvement in further local discussions.  The relationship between 
consultation and subsequent decisions was unclear. Despite the emphasis on 
transformation of learning, stakeholders perceived TLC to be primarily focused on 
school closure rather than the transformation of learning.  
 
The decision making process involved a number of separate stages and was judged 
to be overly drawn out. The Review Panel regularly questioned the openness of the 
process and found inconsistencies in the call-in procedure.  The Panel concluded that 
a much clearer system was required.  

 
Panel recommendations: 
 
The panel made specific suggestions around future governance arrangements for the 
consultation and decision making processes, suggesting that the Lead Member and 
Directors of Children’s Services should adopt a four-stage process: 

 
� Share the problem and invite local solutions, then consult the public whilst still at 

an early stage.  
� Develop a strategic vision and plan then go through a formal process of 

consultation.    
� Issue public notices and take final decisions, based on the whole set of proposals.  

Call-ins should only be permitted at two stages of the decision-making process, 
such as when formal consultation is approved and when public notices are 
approved for issue. Referrals should always go to the Children and Families 
Scrutiny Panel 

� Take the final decision on the whole set of proposals for the locality. 

Page 40



 

 10 

3.2.3 The role of federation in tackling surplus places 
 
Although the formation of federations was an intended outcome of TLC the Scrutiny 
Review Panel questioned its level of acceptance by schools.  The Panel suggest that 
federation became a method for avoiding difficult school closure decisions.   
 
Panel recommendations: 
 
The Panel noted that, whilst evidence suggests federation plays no direct role in 
removing surplus places, it can enable future changes to be made.  For example, 
federation can reduce barriers to future amalgamation, provide an opportunity to 
improve school leadership, and can improve staff capability. Forming a federation 
between two schools could be the first step towards school amalgamation, or the 
closure of the less successful or needed school. 

 
Directors of Children’s Services should be asked to develop a guidance note for 
Members on the role of federation in achieving structural transformation of education 
and reducing surplus places as a first step in leading towards the amalgamation of two 
schools or the closure of one. 
 
 
3.2.4 Small and Rural Schools 
 
The Scrutiny Review Panel noted that parents are aware that small schools attract a 
proportionally greater level of resource than larger schools: parents tend to choose 
such schools for their children because of expectations that educational standards will 
be higher in such an environment.  However, the Panel raised an important issue of 
equity under the present Funding Formula.  As the Audit Commission states, primary 
schools with fewer than 90 children are less cost effective.  Such schools cost more 
per pupil and also receive additional allowances via the Schools Funding Formula 
(LMS). The Scrutiny Review Panel observed that funding is thus diverted from the 
majority of pupils to a minority, which is considered questionable in those cases where 
a school may not be serving its local community.   
 
Panel recommendations:  
 
In terms of potential for closure, current Government guidance involves a presumption 
against this.  Recommendations to close rural schools therefore require particularly 
careful consideration.  The Panel’s view was that a clearer policy on rural schools 
would enable Members to make decisions more easily and remove some of the 
controversy associated with TLC processes.     

 
The Panel concluded that the LMS Funding Formula required a fundamental review, 
to consider whether small school allowances deliver educational benefits appropriate 
to local needs.  The Panel recommended the development of a small and rural 
schools policy, to include criteria to assess the local value of a small school.  For 

Page 41



 

 11 

example, if fewer than 50% of a school’s pupils are drawn from its immediate 
community, that school should not be considered ‘local’.  A minimum viable size, in 
educational terms, should therefore be specified. As a related issue, the Panel noted 
the prevalence of mixed age teaching in rural schools and recommended that this be 
minimised.   
 
 
4. PERCEPTIONS OF TLC BY EIP REPRESENTATIVES 
 
Whilst the TLC Scrutiny Panel had received a great deal of evidence, the Task & 
Finish Group felt the need to hear, at first hand, the views of some of the people 
involved.  At a meeting held on 21 May 2009 at Macclesfield Town Hall, the Group 
interviewed a group of ten individuals, representing the EIPs and the East Cheshire 
Association of Primary Heads (ECAPH), about their own perceptions of TLC.  The 
purpose of the meeting was to seek the views of representatives of schools in 
Cheshire East on the TLC programme, and on various school organisation issues.  
The following points were raised by participants: 
 

• The name Transforming Learning Communities was seen as misleading.  Most 
participants thought TLC had been solely about removing surplus places and was 
therefore fundamentally dishonest.  Participants felt that TLC became a wasted 
opportunity in that it failed to respond to the aim of transforming learning 
communities. 

 

• Once decisions had been made around school closure, very little support for the 
school and its community appeared to be provided during the period up to closure.  
On learning of the decision, some parents withdrew children from the affected 
school. The impact on communities of closing schools was not taken into account; 

 

• The process was sold as being transformational with a ‘blank sheet’ approach 
however this did not appear to match the reality.  

 

• The TLC process was viewed as a missed opportunity to have an in-depth look at 
learning provision within localities, especially in the light of changes at Key Stages 
3 and 4 and the introduction of diplomas. 

 

• The process was not clear and transparent and did not accord with that of other 
Councils known to be using good practice in this area. 

 

• Out of date information was used, indicating the need for more accurate 
information. 

 

• Options were seen as proposals and it was unclear how these were generated, so 
the process was non-transparent.  One participant commented that schools did not 
feel they had been adequately consulted or their views heard. 

 

Page 42



 

 12 

• Queries were raised as to whether it was appropriate to consult a school or 
community about its own closure, and whether it would be more appropriately for 
the Council to take strategic decisions on school reorganisation. 

 

• Timescales were experienced as too lengthy: once a decision had been made to 
close a school the process was drawn-out, leading to low morale. 

 

• The decision making process, including the political process, was also believed 
overly long.  Participants believed the process should have enabled swift decisions 
to be made, thereby reducing uncertainty. 

 

• Queries were raised about whether the process took account of Special 
Educational Needs. 

 

• Where schools worked together to amalgamate or federate, they were given little 
support in the process of achieving this and little support once the new 
arrangements were up and running. 

 

• Participants suggested that there was a role for Education Improvement 
Partnerships in any future school reorganisation, as partners would work for the 
good of the area rather than their own individual school.  The point was made that, 
if local issues were raised, the EIP could take action to address this as a first step, 
requiring local Authority intervention only if this was not successful. 

 

• Some commented that the LAP could play a more significant role in future. 
 

• The group felt that Federation needed to be clearly understood as an option, with 
issues relating to leadership and governing bodies being considered and 
understood.  Again, this was perceived as a role for the EIP in future, drawing on 
examples of good practice in other areas.  One commented that Federation could 
be a more organic way of moving forward. 

 

• It was suggested that the issue of Academies should be discussed with 
headteachers prior to any public consideration. 

 

• It was noted there was a role for the Local Authority to share the experience of 
schools which had become Trusts. 

 

• Queries were raised about the role of Headteachers in extended schools provision.  
Participants asked whether it might be appropriate for other agencies to take on 
the role and responsibility for extended schools provision rather than the school 
itself. 

 
 

Page 43



 

 13 

5.   THE CHANGING PICTURE OF PROVISION OF SCHOOL PLACES IN 
CHESHIRE EAST 

 
Section 5.1 provides long-term data on national demographic change followed by the 
emerging picture on live births for Cheshire East.  This helps us understand the strong 
relationship between demographic change over time and its outcome in surplus or 
insufficient school places at both primary and secondary schools.   
 
Section 5.2 highlights issues relating to the large number of small and rural schools 
within the catchment of Cheshire East.  
 
 
5.1 Demographic change and school places 

 
Demographic data from ONS reveal a changing picture, depending on the timescale 
under consideration.  For example, when we look at numbers of live births over the 
last 100 years in England and Wales (Figure 3 below) we see a number of peaks and 
troughs across the decades.  However, these occur in the context of a steady, long-
term national decline in the overall number of live births: 

 
Figure 3 

 

Figure 4 below demonstrates that a different picture emerges when we look at data on 
recent decades.  This suggests that population numbers are increasing, at least in the 
short term.  These data obviously mask regional and smaller-scale differences across 
England and Wales. 

   

England and Wales Live Births, 1900 - 2007

500,000

550,000

600,000

650,000

700,000

750,000

800,000

850,000

900,000

950,000

1,000,000

1890 1900 1910 1920 1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020

YEAR

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
L
iv

e
 B

ir
th

s

Source: ONS, Table: PBH11:  'Live births: 1838-2004, occurrence within/outside marriage'.

Page 44



 

 14 

Figure 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 5 

 
Data show that live births have actually increased in recent years across Cheshire 
East (see Figure 5 above).  Because of the strong positive relationship between 
increasing numbers of live births and demand for school places, the current rate of fall 

Recent Historical Trends in Live Births in  Cheshire East
(by aggregation of Pre-LGR District level data)

3752

3801

3539

3735

3948

3860

4065

3421

3584
3489

3673

3200

3400

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010

Year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
L
iv

e
 B

ir
th

s

Cheshire East

internal 

authority 

boundary 'pool' 

for Reception 

Intake at Sept' 

2009

'pool' for 

Reception 

intake at Sept' 

2012/13

Source: VS4, Office of National Statistics, Annual updates, 

'Live Births by Local Authority'.

Primary PAN @ 2010 - 4223

Number of Live Births in England & Wales (1998-2008)

621,872

604,441
594,634 596,122

621,469

645,835

669,601

708,711

635,901

639,721

690,013

400000

450000

500000

550000

600000

650000

700000

750000

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
li
v
e
 b

ir
th

s

Page 45



 

 15 

in pupil numbers used by the TLC Review (Figures 1 and 2 above) may not be 
sustained and may, in fact, be in the process of longer-term reversal.  Nevertheless, 
there are differences in projections across the Council area, with live births increasing 
more in some localities (e.g. Crewe, Alsager, Congleton) than in others (e.g. 
Nantwich, Middlewich, Macclesfield, Holmes Chapel). The data also differ depending 
on whether they relate to the population of a town or whether they include its outlying 
area(s).   

 
The graph below (Figure 6) demonstrates the relationship between live births and 
reception class intake for Cheshire East.  This relates to the period 1983 to 2009, with 
a projection through to 2015. Figures peaked in 1995 and fell steadily year on year 
until 2007. For 2008 and 2009 both the birth rate and the entry to reception class 
increased significantly on previous years and the projection is for further rise.  

 
 

Figure 6 

 
 
The graph below (Figure 7) demonstrates the rapid increase in primary school 
numbers in the period 1985 to 1998 followed by an equally rapid decline in the 
following period from 1998 to 2007.  That decline appears to have reached a plateau 
and may be reversed in coming years. 

Cheshire East:   Comparison of Total Live Births vs Reception Intake Pupils on Roll

5 Years Roll-on for Live Births to correspond with Reception Year Group (Age 4+)

3200

3400

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

Aug-83 Aug-85 Aug-87 Jul-89 Jul-91 Jul-93 Jul-95 Jul-97 Jul-99 Jul-01 Jul-03 Jul-05 Jul-07 Jul-09 Jul-11 Jul-13 Jul-15

Primary School Total Pupils in Reception Year Live Birth Roll-on to School Intake (5 yrs Roll-on)

Baseline PLASC, Jan' 09 Forcasts, 2010-2014 Baseline PLASC, Jan' 08 Forcasts, 2009-2013

Baseline PLASC, Jan' 07 Forcasts, 2008-2012

PLASC Pupil data for 1990-1992 does not include Special 

Unit pupils.  Currently, there are xxx pupils in such units 

(xxx%, Jan' 08) (and in 2005,xxx pupils (xx%) Source: PLASC Returns, 1990-2008

A decrease of over 800 

live births per year 

(18%) over a 13 year 

period (equivalent to 27 

1FE primary school 

classes)

2008 live births 

(rolled on for 

Reception 

Intake in Sept 

2012

Actual Jan' 09 

pupils on Roll

PAN of 4,223 from 

Admissions round for 

Jan' 2010

Scenario: If Live birth numbers at 

2007 translate to similar Pupils on 

Roll, the Surplus Places at 

Reception, Sept 2011 will be ~9%, 
this inside the working range 

of 5-10% 

Page 46



 

 16 

Figure 7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

However, it is also important to look at the data on specific age cohorts in order to 
plausibly predict future demand (Figure 8 below).     
 

Figure 8 

   Total Primary Pupils on Roll, 1990-2009 

(inc. 5-year Pupil forecasts, 2009-2013 and 2010-2014)

23000

24000

25000

26000

27000

28000

29000

Jan-

89

Jan-

90

Jan-

91

Jan-

92

Jan-

93

Jan-

94

Jan-

95

Jan-

96

Jan-

97

Jan-

98

Jan-

99

Jan-

00

Jan-

01

Jan-

02

Jan-

03

Jan-

04

Jan-

05

Jan-

06

Jan-

07

Jan-

08

Jan-

09

Jan-

10

Jan-

11

Jan-

12

Jan-

13

Jan-

14

Jan-

15

Jan-

16

Baseline Jan' '08 Pupil Forecasts, 2009-2013 Baseline Jan' '09 Pupil Forecasts, 2010-2014

PLASC data for 1990-1992 

does not include Special Unit 

pupils.  Currently, there are 

129 pupils in such units 

(0.5%, Jan' 08) (and in 2005, 

219 pupils (0.8%)

Source: PLASC Returns, 1990-2009

A decrease of over 4,500 

primary pupils over a 11 

year period (equivalent 

to 21 1FE primary 

schools) and a 16% 

decrease of pupils on 

roll from the high of 

1998.

Actual 

Jan' 09 

Cheshire East - Number on Roll by Age Group

4065

3860

3948

3739
3704

3623

3477

3597

3765

3942
3882

4068

3881

4016

4135
4167

3000

3200

3400

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

Li
ve
 B
irt
hs
 2
00
8

Li
ve
 B
irt
hs
 2
00
7

Li
ve
 B
irt
hs
 2
00
6

Al
lo
ca
tio
ns
 fo
r S
ep
t 0
9 
(3
+) 4+ 5+ 6+ 7+ 8+ 9+ 10

+
11
+

12
+

13
+

14
+

15
+

Age Group

N
u
m

b
e
r 
o
n
 r
o
ll

Primary PAN @2010
Secondary PAN @2010

Page 47



 

 17 

Figure 8 above shows the number of children on roll in Cheshire East in 2009, by age 
group.  It also shows a clear dip in the number of children presently aged round about 
six years of age, with implications for the number of school places this age cohort will 
require during the course of their primary and secondary education. 
 
Figure 9 below demonstrates how remarkably flawed projections can be: the 
projection was based on figures up to 2007 and thus predicted a continued fall in 
reception pupil numbers.  However, since 2007 there has been an increase in the birth 
rate, as shown in the graph.  A revised projection is therefore needed for the next five 
years, based on this revised data. 
 

Figure 9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our data indicate an overall downward trend in demand for secondary school places 
in Cheshire East.  Figure 10 below shows the trend from 2004, projected to 2015:  
 

 

Cheshire East - Reception Pupils 2000 - 2014

3906

3749

3622

3700

3334

3656
3556

3412

3846

3842

3929

3375

332433243330

3000

3100

3200

3300

3400

3500

3600

3700

3800

3900

4000

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
R

e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 P

u
p
il
s

Actual Reception Numbers, 2000-2009

Forecast Reception Numbers, 2010-2014

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2000- Jan' 2009

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

Page 48



 

 18 

Figure 10 

 
Figure 11 below shows the projected rise in surplus places in secondary schools 
across Cheshire East.  Data refer to the period between 2005 and 2015.  (Appendix A 
of this report shows the projected rise in surplus secondary school places across 
specific localities such as towns.) 

Figure 11 

Cheshire East:

 Change in Secondary School Pupils on Roll, 2004 to 2016

24491
24191

22830

21108
20813

2438524539

23770 23667

22411
21974

21399

23240

15000

16000

17000

18000

19000

20000

21000

22000

23000

24000

25000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
P
u
p
il
 N

u
m

b
e
rs

 o
n
 R

o
ll

Actual Pupil Numbers on Roll, 2004-2009

Forecast Pupil Numbers on Roll, 2010-2016

Source: PLASC, DCSF Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Forecast Baseline of Jan' 2009 - produced forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

A forecast decrease in secondary 

Pupils on Roll from Jan' 2009 of 2854 

to Jan' 2016

East:

 Change in Secondary School Surplus Places, 2004 to 2016

1271 1279

1898

3355

3710

1006958

967
1230

2265

2631

3122

1623

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S
u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s

Actual Surplus Places, 2004-2009

Forecast Surplus Places, 20010-2016

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Baseline of Jan' 2009 and forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

A projected increase in secondary 

surplus places from Jan' 2009 of 2480 

at Jan' 2016

Page 49



 

 19 

Figure 12 below shows the Year 7 cohort.  Between 2008 and 2009 there has been a 
clear increase in pupils on roll.  From 2009 onwards numbers are projected to fall 
quite rapidly for this cohort, with knock-on effects for subsequent school years. 
 

Figure 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Taken together, these data present a complex picture. The implications of the TLC 
review for Cheshire East were that some 400 school places would need to be 
removed each year in order to keep pace with currently falling rolls and not exceed the 
target of 10% surplus places by 2011. This is probably correct, given that this target 
applies to the near future.   

 
However, data projections also indicate the shifting nature of the trends in live births, 
which will impact on the demand for primary and secondary school places over the 
longer term.  This phenomenon can be thought of as a ‘wave’ of demand which 
fluctuates over time and across specific age cohorts, sometimes quite sharply. The 
conclusion here must be that Cheshire East will need to build into its system of school 
provision the capacity to accommodate such marked rises and dips in demand. 
 
 
5.2 Small and rural schools in Cheshire East  
 
The fact that the new Council has a large number of small primary schools is highly 
pertinent to its management of school places provision.  With an average size of 190 
pupils, these primary schools are smaller than those in comparable Authorities. The 
Task & Finish Group believes the Council need to consider three key issues here: 

 

Cheshire East - Year 7 Pupils 2000 - 2014

4009

4314

3704

3888
3840

4183
4116

3988

4286

4235
4272

3775

3406

3511

3653

3000

3200

3400

3600

3800

4000

4200

4400

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Year

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
Y

e
a
r 

7
 P

u
p
il
s

Actual Year 7 Numbers, 2000-2009

Forecast Year 7 Numbers, 2010-2014

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2000- Jan' 2009

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

Page 50



 

 20 

1. The community importance of schools be considered when proposals for closure 
are made; 

2. The additional costs involved in running small schools; 
3. The difference between strong demand for places at a particular school and the 

evidence of usage by pupils living in a school’s designated catchment area. 
 
 
6. THE CURRENT POSITION BY EIP 
 
Since their inception the purpose of Education Improvement Partnerships (EIPs) has 
been to promote collaboration and best practice between groups of schools on a local 
basis.  A number of the EIPs in Cheshire East are now well established and 
consideration could be given as to how they could better support and progress the 
ECM agenda.  For example, small schools may have difficulty in delivering the 
extended services remit so could benefit by working collaboratively with their nearest 
neighbour(s) to meet such needs. And, whilst the commissioning of school places falls 
within the remit of a local authority, EIPs may also increasingly need to manage their 
resources to match supply of places with demand.  
 
Section 6.1 provides data on surplus places, current and projected, across the twelve 
EIP families of schools. This section also highlights the relationship between the 
appropriate provision of school places and other key factors such as popularity, 
academic performance and cost effectiveness.  A small number of schools are used 
as ‘case studies’.  
 
Section 6.2 applies the above approach to the issue of secondary schools. 
 
 
6.1  Primary Schools across EIPs 

 
This sub-section drills down further into the data we have available, to present 
information on surplus places in Cheshire East’s EIPs. Appendix B to this report 
provides Tables on each of the EIPs which will enable the reader to identify those 
primary schools with over 20% surplus places.  Appendix B also provides data relating 
to each school’s capacity/surplus places; numbers on roll; cost effectiveness 
(compared with each EIP average); academic success; and popularity with local 
parents.   
 
Contextual Value Added (CVA) analysis provides a quantitative method of estimating 
pupil and school performance that can be used when making this judgement. The 
value added concept is based on the assumption that teachers and schools add 
‘value’ to the achievement of their students. CVAs measure student progress in 
academic outcomes such as reading or mathematics attainment over a given period of 
time.   
 

Page 51



 

 21 

Local popularity is indicated by the percentage of children living in a school’s 
catchment area who actually attend that school, rather than any other alternative.  
This could also be taken as a plausible indicator of parental preference and choice. 
 
For each EIP below we give examples of schools in order to illustrate what the data 
can tell us about the context within which the school operates. The short case studies 
which follow each EIP draw on information from the Tables in Appendix B to 
demonstrate important contrasts between schools in terms of their cost 
effectiveness, academic performance, and local popularity.  In some cases, 
postcode analysis provides a further tool which can help us understand the 
relationship between supply and demand of school places. 
 
 
1. Alsager EIP  

 
Within this group of six schools there is capacity for 1,493 pupils.  Currently this EIP 
has 10% surplus places which are projected to rise to nearly 20% over the next five 
years.  In overall terms it can be seen from the projections for this EIP that, by 2014, 
there will be nearly 300 surplus places.  This equates to two schools too many.  
 
 

 
School A has a capacity of 233 pupils, yet has 278 currently on roll. This is clearly a 
popular and over-subscribed school, with 45 pupils more than its capacity.  It is cost 
effective at £2,794 per pupil, which is well below the average of £3,057.  Its academic 
success is well above average, with a CVA of 101.7 and nearly 100% pass rate at 
Maths and English L4+.  However, only 51% of parents living within the school 
catchment choose to send their children to the school.  Some parents appear to be 
opting for a faith-based education whilst other parents prefer alternative schools within 
the area.  A nearby school, School B, has a capacity of 105 pupils but only 46 on roll 
– a 56% surplus capacity.  The cost per pupil is well above average, at £4,336.  Only 
13% of parents within the catchment choose to send their children to this school, 
suggesting that this school is not popular with its local community.  We know that most 
parents in this catchment area choose School A for their children.  These data 
suggest that School A should be expanded to accommodate two forms of entry.  The 
data also raise questions about the longer-term sustainability of School B. 
 

 
 

 
Schools E and F both appear to be popular with parents living within the catchment 
areas, in that 73% and 77% respectively send their children to these schools.  The 
data show that they are both academically successful and cost effective schools.  
However, School F has a high level of surplus places, at 24% whereas School E is 
over-subscribed.  Postcode analysis (not included within this report but data are 
available on request) for School F tells us that there are only 137 eligible children 

Page 52



 

 22 

living within the catchment although the school has a capacity of 210 pupils.  Even if 
every child within the catchment attended this school, there would still be a very 
significant surplus.  Bearing in mind its local popularity, our data suggest that either 
the school is too large for its catchment, or that the catchment should be increased to 
match the capacity of the school.   
 

 
 
2.  Crewe and Shavington EIPs 
 
There are nineteen primary schools within the Crewe and Shavington EIPs, with a 
total capacity of 6,627 pupils.  Appendix B shows that the roll at January 2009 was 
5,868, which indicates that the EIP has 11% surplus places overall.  A small increase 
in pupil numbers is also projected which will reduce the number of surplus places to 
655, or just less than 10%. There are nine schools with greater than 10% surplus 
places. Five schools in particular have higher than 25% surplus places.  There are 
seven schools within the EIP family that do not appear to be very popular with their 
local parents in that less than 50% of the pupils living within the school’s catchment 
actually attend the school.  
 
 

 
School B currently has 40% capacity and a very high cost per pupil: £4,080 
compared with the average of £3,115 for this group.  Only 18% of children living in its 
catchment area attend the school, suggesting that it is not popular with local parents.  
This school’s academic performance is below average with a CVA of 99.9 and pass 
rates of 77% in English and 72% in Maths. School P is clearly popular with parents in 
that 78% of those eligible to send their children to the school do so. It is a very cost 
effective school in that its cost per pupil at £2,724 is well below the average for the 
group of schools. It also has a higher than average CVA score and excellent exam 
results. Surprisingly it still shows 10% surplus places, which may be attributable to 
parents choosing a faith based education nearby. 
 

 
 
3.  Congleton EIP  
 
This group of schools currently has capacity for 2,806 pupils with 2,404 on roll, giving 
14% surplus places. However it should be noted that four schools have 25% or more 
surplus places and for most the position is set to worsen over the next five years. 
There has been very little variation in the birth rate within this part of Cheshire East 
that might change this situation. Whilst three of these schools are well above average 
in terms of cost, one is only slightly above.   The two examples below illustrate the 
contrast  
 
 

Page 53



 

 23 

 
School E has a capacity of 390 but only 224 pupils on roll, giving 43% surplus places.  
This will probably rise still further because of a projected fall in number to 160 on roll 
(which would mean over 50% surplus places).  Only 37% of parents in the catchment 
send their children to this school, suggesting that it is not popular within the 
community. Its cost, at £3,284 is above the Council average but a little below this 
EIP’s average of £3,375.  School M attracts 76% of local children, is academically 
very successful (CVA of 100 and pass rates of 97% for English and 100% for Maths) 
and is extremely cost effective at £2,605 per pupil. 
 

 
 
4.  Holmes Chapel EIP  
 
This group of primary schools has a net capacity of 1,156 with 1,004 pupils currently 
on roll, resulting in 13% surplus places overall. It should be noted that two schools 
have greater than 25% surplus places and also higher than average costs on a per 
pupil basis. The position at one in particular is projected to worsen over the next five 
years, with surplus places increasing to 60%.  This case is particularly instructive: the 
school was rebuilt within the last five years but demonstrates how changing 
demographics plus parental choice to send children elsewhere can frustrate 
investment decisions. 
 

 
School A currently has 28% surplus places.  However, over the next five years 
numbers are projected to increase from the current number on roll (108) to 149, 
reducing surplus capacity at this school to zero.  Although the school is academically 
successful, with a CVA of 100.9 and an 89% pass rate at English and Maths, only 
40% of local children attend it, suggesting that it is not locally popular.  School C, 
however, is subscribed by 83% of local children, suggesting considerable popularity.  
This school has no surplus places.  Its educational standards are good, with a CVA of 
101 and pass rates of 94% and 97% in English and Maths, well above the average of 
84% for Cheshire East.  School E is the most cost effective school within the EIP, at 
£2,715 per pupil, which is well below this EIP’s average of £3,428.  The school 
appears popular with parents in that 79% living in the catchment area send their 
children here.  Standards are good, with a CVA of 99.1 and exam pass rates of 92% 
and 84% for English and Maths. 
 

 
 
5.  Knutsford EIP  
 
This group of seven primary schools has a capacity for 1,412 pupils. The number on 
roll at January 2009 was 1,288: this is predicted to rise to 1,299 by 2013.  The 
average of surplus places is only 9%.  Numbers are set to rise over the next five years 
to 1,363, reducing the surplus capacity to 3%.   

Page 54



 

 24 

 

 
This figure of 3% masks the case of School D which currently has 33% surplus 
places. CVA performance is below average at 99.8%, but exam results are good, with 
above average performance in English and Maths (91%). At £4,729 per pupil per year 
this is also the most expensive school in the area, well above the EIP average of 
£3,399.  The school is apparently popular with local parents in that 83% of them 
choose to send their children there. Only six children live within the catchment area, 
five of whom attend the school.  However, postcode data tell us that the majority of 
pupils at this faith school travel large distances to attend: 27 travel from Warrington; 
23 travel from Trafford; others travel from Stockport and Manchester. This begs the 
question, perhaps, of whether this school is meeting a truly local demand. 
 

 
 
6.  Macclesfield and Bollington EIP  
 
There are 26 primary schools within this group, with a capacity of 5,923.  There are 
currently 4,826 pupils on roll, giving a surplus of 19% in school places.  Amalgamation 
between Schools V and Y will remove 315 places, reducing the surplus to 13%.  
Although a small increase in numbers is projected over the next five years, the surplus 
capacity will remain at 18%. 
 

 
School A has the capacity for 149 pupils: 94 pupils are currently on roll, giving 37% 
surplus places.  The school has a high resource cost at £4,603 per pupil per year.  
Only 86 (20%) of the 420 pupils living in the catchment area attend this school: 90 
local children attend a joint faith school, 72 go to another local school, and the 
remaining 172 are spread across 16 other local schools, all within a radius of less than 
2 miles. This school is evidently not popular with most local parents.  Nor is it 
particularly successful in educational terms, with a CVA of 98.9 (well below average) 
and poor L4+ results for Maths and English.  This school was proposed for closure 
under TLC but given a three year reprieve, subject to delivery against an action plan.   
 

 
 

 
School S, with a capacity of 210 but only 81 on roll, has 61% surplus places.  The 
cost per pupil is £5,098, which is amongst the highest across Cheshire East.  As only 
32% of local children attend the school it appears to lack popularity with local parents.  
Its CVA is above average, at 100.5, but the pass rate for English and Maths is well 
below average at 57% and 74% respectively. 
 

 
 
 

Page 55



 

 25 

 
School N currently receives £5,627 per pupil per year, the highest level of resource 
across Cheshire East (including secondary schools).  There are 38 children on roll. 
Out of only nine potential pupils from the local community, three attend this school. It 
is not a ‘local’ school as the majority of pupils are drawn from outside its catchment 
area. It is, however, popular with parents from other areas who are willing to drive their 
children to this school (as no public transport exists).  This school received only a 
‘satisfactory’ rating from Ofsted in 2007 whereas other schools in the surrounding area 
(of which there are six within a two mile radius) have better ratings.   
 
To avoid closure, School N formed a ‘hard’ federation with another primary school, 
School D.  School D currently has 60% surplus places, one of the highest in the 
Council area. This school also has one of the highest costs per pupil, at £4,686 per 
head; only 10% of pupils living in the catchment attend the school.  It has a ‘good’ 
Ofsted rating. 
 
School F, within a two mile radius of both the above schools, has a capacity of 210 
and currently runs with 14% surplus places, which is sufficient to incorporate children 
from both Schools N and D. School F has an ‘outstanding’ rating from Ofsted. The 
cost per pupil is £2,915 per year and 94% of children in the school live in the school’s 
catchment area.  This is a cost-effective school, popular with its local community.  
      

 
 
7.  Middlewich EIP 
 
This family of four schools with capacity of 1,136 currently has 1,054 on roll, giving 7% 
surplus places.  Numbers of pupils are projected to fall to 938 by 2014, rising surplus 
places to 17%. 
 

 
School D can be seen to have 63 on roll, with a capacity of 56.  This faith school is 
over-subscribed, with costs per pupil of £4,090, which makes it the highest in this EIP 
and well above the EIP average of £3,250.  Although academic standards are good, 
with a CVA of 100.6 and 82% pass rates in English and Maths, the school does not 
appear to be very popular.  Only 48% of parents in the catchment area choose to 
send their children to this school.  Postcode analysis reveals that the majority of 
children attending the school travel significant distances.  
 

 
 
8.  Nantwich EIP 
 
This family of 14 schools has capacity of 2,404 children with 2,184 currently on roll, 
giving 9% surplus places.  Over the next five years this is set to drop to 6%.  

Page 56



 

 26 

Popularity of schools varies widely, from a low of 37% local attendance for School N 
to a high of 84% local attendance for School B. 
 
 

 
School N currently has 18% surplus places, and has the highest cost per pupil t 
£4,149 compared with the group average of £3,236.  Although CVA is above average 
at 100.5, English and Maths results (68% and 74%) are below average.  Postcode 
analysis tells us that there are 264 children within the catchment of this school: as only 
98 of these attend this school (37%) it seems unpopular with local parents. 
 

 
 
9.  Poynton and Disley EIPs 
 
This family of seven schools has capacity for 1,387 pupils with 1,311 currently on roll, 
giving 5% surplus places.  Numbers on roll are projected to fall to 1,261 in the near 
five years, giving 9% surplus places.   
 
 

 
Within this group we have one school (School F) that is over-subscribed, with 330 on 
roll compared with a capacity of 315.  The school appears to be relatively popular, 
with 55% of parents choosing to send their children to this school.  Both CVA (98.2) 
and pass rates in English and Maths (77% and 75%) are below average.  School B 
appears to be the most popular in the group, with 95% of local parents choosing to 
send their children here.  However, the current level of surplus places (13%) is set to 
increase as projected numbers on roll in five years time drop from the current level of 
182 to 144, giving 31% surplus places.  Postcode analysis tells us that there are 
currently 178 pupils within the catchment area: 171 of these attend this school.  This 
suggests that the school is too large, with a capacity of 210, for the community it 
serves. 
 

 
 
10. Sandbach EIP 
 
This group of eight schools has a capacity of 2,158 pupils and 1,845 are currently on 
roll, giving 15% surplus places.  The birth rate in this part of Cheshire East is near 
static and the predicted number on roll is set to decline, over the next five years, to 
1,796, increasing surplus places to 17%.  In overall terms, the data suggest that there 
is one too many schools within this EIP family. 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

 27 

 
School E currently has 38% surplus places which are projected to rise to 50% in five 
years.  The school is the most expensive in the EIP, at £4,021 per pupil, compared 
with the average of £3,117.  The school appears to lack popularity in that only 34% of 
local parents choose to send their children here.  Its CVA (99.1) and pass rate in 
English and Maths (72% and 68%) are below average.  Taken together, these points 
raise questions about the longer-term viability of the school. 
 

 
 
11.  Wilmslow and Alderley Edge EIP 
This family of eleven schools has 2,553 pupil capacity, with 2,429 currently on roll, 
giving 5% surplus places.  Over the next five years projections indicate that a small 
increase in numbers on roll, to 2,433, will result in 4% surplus places.  Popularity of 
schools within the EIP ranges from a low of 28% (School F) to a high of 81% for 
School D. 
 
 

 
School F has only 28% of local parents choosing to send their children here.  It has 
the highest cost, at £4,392, well above this EIP’s average of £3,196.  Although CVA is 
well above average, at 101.3, performance at English and Maths are well below the 
EIP average of 84%, at 75% and 67%.  The majority of parents in this school’s 
catchment opt to send their children to School B.  This school is the most cost 
effective in the group, at £2,536, well below the EIP average.  75% of local parents 
send their children to this school.  Its CVA is 100 and pass rates in English and Maths 
are 98% - well above the EIP average.  Taken together, these data may raise 
questions about the longer-term future of School F. 
 

 
 
6.2   Surplus Places in Secondary Schools across Cheshire East 
 
We have a capacity of 24,287 places in secondary schools.  On roll we currently have 
23,565 pupils: this number is set to fall quite rapidly over the next five years to a level 
below 21,000 pupils.  Figure 10 (page 18 above) shows that the numbers of children 
currently within the 11-16 age-group are at a peak and are projected to decline over 
the next five years, on the basis of birth rate data, by 15%.  However, after reaching 
this low point rolls will then start to increase again over the next six years, although 
projections indicate that they will not rise to the current high levels.  In other words, we 
are facing 15% surplus places within the next eight years; thereafter, the need for 
places will increase but to a level significantly below current demand.  Cheshire East 
faces the challenge of responding to this changing wave of demand.   

 
We also need to consider the related issues of popularity, equity, efficiency and 
effectiveness. The average cost per pupil in secondary schools is £3,976; the range is 

Page 58



 

 28 

from £3,583 to £4,606. As with primary schools, this raises the question of inequitable 
resource distribution between secondary schools. Here too we require further 
information on each school, in addition to information on surplus places and cost, in 
order to judge whether or not a school is providing efficient and effective provision.    
The case studies below use information given in Table 12 of Appendix B of this report. 

 
 

 
School J has a capacity of 1,100 with 817 pupils currently on roll (i.e. 26% surplus 
places).  The roll is projected to fall significantly by 2013.  Its cost per pupil, at £4,435, 
is third highest for Cheshire East secondary schools.  Academic performance is very 
poor, with fewer than 30% of young people achieving five or more A* to C (including 
English and Maths) grades at GCSE level.  The school serves a large community, with 
nearly 2000 pupils living within its catchment: 655 of these attend the school.  A 
further 600 children attend a Catholic College; 602 attend a second high school in the 
area; and 71 pupils go to a third.  This suggests that the school is not popular with 
parents in its catchment area.  The CVA is 981.3. 
 
Conversely, School F has a capacity for 1,238 but has 1,500 currently on roll, so is 
over-subscribed.  This is both a successful and popular school with 74% of pupils 
achieving 5+A*-C including Maths and English GCSEs. This ranks the school second 
best within Cheshire East with an average of 53%: the average across England is 
47%. Educationally it is within the top four performing schools across Cheshire East 
with a CVA score of 1005.1, which compares favourably with the Cheshire average of 
997.9. Within the school’s catchment area there are 716 pupils: 564 of these (nearly 
80%) attend the school. Nearly half of pupils attending this school are drawn from the 
catchment area of School J.  It can be concluded that parental choice has led to the 
over-subscription to the second school and the decline of numbers attending the case 
High School.  The second high school is also far more cost effective, at £3,849 per 
pupil per year. 
 

 
 

 
School I has a capacity of 1,606 and 1,419 pupils on roll, which equates to 12% 
surplus places. Over the next five years this is projected to rise to over 20%. Only 47% 
of pupils that attend the school live within its catchment; conversely 82% of pupils that 
live within the town attend the school. In other words this school is twice the size 
needed to satisfy the needs of its local community. The total number of young people 
within the 11 to 18 age range living within the town is 725 and 680 of these attend the 
school. There are 558 pupils attending the school who live within another Council area 
and 69 from a city outside our boundaries. This school is currently running with a 
significant budgetary deficit which in part is no doubt due to its operation over two 
sites.  
 

 

Page 59



 

 29 

7. DEVELOPING A NEW SYSTEM TO MANAGE THE PROVISION OF 
SCHOOL PLACES WITHIN CHESHIRE EAST 

 
The weight of evidence provided above indicates the need for a new system of 
managing the provision of school places within Cheshire East Council.  The Task & 
Finish Group consider that the main attributes of any new system should involve the 
following: 
 

• A new name should be given to the process, to indicate a clear break with TLC. 
 

• A sound evidence base, with accurate and timely data, must be developed.  The 
new concept of school popularity (measured by the percentage of pupils within a 
school’s designated catchment area actually attending that school) should be 
included.  However, should a school be identified as requiring further scrutiny on 
the basis of lack of local popularity, then catchment data should be checked for 
their accuracy and validity.  

 

• The new system should be as objective as possible but should also recognise that 
factors such as the impact of school closure on the local community will need to be 
taken into account. 

 

• There needs to be a continuous management of changing circumstances rather 
than a large catch-up programme.  There needs to be an early warning system in 
place which will alert the Council, for example, when surplus places at a school 
exceed a certain number or when costs exceed a certain sum. 

 

• The new system should be as transparent as possible and should involve swift and 
decisive decision-making.  Adequate support should be provided to schools, 
particularly those directly involved, as this could influence the pace of change. 

 

• The issue of surplus places should not be managed on a Council-wide basis but 
approached from a more local perspective, such as Locality or EIP. 

 

• There needs to be a clear policy framework for small and rural schools. 
 

• There needs to be close and early working with EIPs, Diocese and others. 
 

• A clear policy needs to be developed for the role of Federations. 
 

• There needs to be an immediate update of the Schools Funding Formula. 
 

• This new system needs to be interfaced with both the Primary Capital and Building 
Schools for the Future Programmes. 

 
 

Page 60



 

 30 

7.1 Presentation of data 
 
The Task & Finish Group believe it essential that up to date and accurate data is 
provided, which demonstrate the effectiveness or otherwise of the Council’s strategy 
for the management of surplus places. The time taken to assemble this report is one 
indication that, in future, certain pieces of key information need to be available for 
presentation together, to ensure clarity.  
 
The Group considers that the following key data sets must be established: 
 

• Current Published Admission Number (PAN) 

• Current Net Capacity 

• Current Number on Roll (NOR) 

• Current percentage of surplus places 

• Projected NOR in five, ten and fifteen years time 

• Current cost per pupil 

• Popularity of school expressed as percentage of pupils within the school 
catchment attending the school 

• Academic achievement of school expressed in terms of Contextual Value 
Added (CVA) and exam performance  

 
 
8. CONCLUSIONS 
 
8.1 The former Cheshire County Council’s ‘Transforming Learning Communities’ 

was an ambitious programme designed to examine educational provision within 
the County in the light of ‘Every Child Matters’ (ECM) agenda, and at the same 
time reduce the number of surplus places in Cheshire Schools. The need for a 
reduction in surplus places was particularly acute in primary schools where, as 
a result of a long term fall in the birth rate, the number on roll was forecast to 
fall and surplus places to rise from 12% to 20% over the period 2005 to 2010. 
However, although there were many positive outcomes from TLC, its multiple 
requirements seem to have stretched the authority’s resources and 
overshadowed transformational aspects of the programme. 

 
8.2 The TLC process was received unfavourably by both the Church of England 

Diocese of Chester and the Catholic Diocese of Shrewsbury. In view of the 
numbers of church schools within Cheshire East, this suggests that attention 
should be paid to improving future relations with both Dioceses. 

 
8.3 Cheshire East Council inherits a different position than that forecast at the start 

of the former County TLC programme in two respects. Firstly the fall in rolls is 
not as great as was forecast, due to a reversal of the birth rate from 2003 
onwards.  Secondly, the number of surplus places removed under TLC has 
fallen short of forecast.  Although the two factors tend to counteract each other 

Page 61



 

 31 

Cheshire East is still required to remove significant numbers of surplus places if 
it is to ensure that the authority is making best use of its resources. 

 
8.4 Whilst it is difficult to comment on some of the conclusions drawn in the body of 

the former Cheshire County Council Scrutiny Report it is clear that 
recommendations relative to process and the need for policy and Funding 
Formula reviews are sound. The lessons from TLC are that Cheshire East 
needs better tools in terms of policies and information systems, and a better 
process for the review, consultation and decision phases of any change to 
school arrangements. The review of the Funding Formula is urgent and should 
be adequately resourced. 

 
8.5 Given the large number of small and rural schools across East Cheshire, many 

of which fall below the minimum size recommended by the Audit Commission, 
the Council needs a clear policy framework for small and rural schools. 

 
8.6 The Group considers there is also a need to review other aspects of the 

Funding Formula, in particular the way that additional funding is allocated in 
deprived areas through the number of free school meals served. The Group 
believes that that there are now sufficient data on individual children to 
reallocate the money involved on a different basis.  

 
8.7 Whilst evidence suggests federation plays no direct role in removing surplus 

places, it can enable future changes to be made, reducing barriers to future 
amalgamation, providing an opportunity to improve school leadership, and 
improving staff capability. Forming a federation between two schools could be 
the first step towards school amalgamation, or the closure of the less 
successful or needed school. Federation should be understood as one of 
several options for school governance.  . 
 

8.8 With regard to the match between supply and demand, data projections 
indicate the shifting nature of the trends in live births.  This will impact on the 
demand for primary and secondary school places over the longer term.  This 
phenomenon can be thought of as a ‘wave’ of demand which fluctuates over 
time and across specific age cohorts, sometimes quite sharply. Cheshire East 
will therefore need to consider how to build into its system of school provision 
the capacity to accommodate such marked rises and dips in demand.   

 
8.9 Any future strategy needs to recognise the requirement to manage surplus 

places on an area basis and in line with changing demographics. In addition, 
parental choice with regard to school places is a policy imperative with which 
the Council must comply.  Future strategy therefore needs to reward success 
by making appropriate investment in popular and successful schools and take 
decisive action relative to unpopular and academically weak schools.  

 

Page 62



 

 32 

8.10 One of the problems we face in understanding current and probable future 
trends is the lack of sufficiently robust and up to date information: this report 
has drawn on much data from 2008 as 2009 is, in many cases, unavailable.  
We will need such data to be more readily available and in user-friendly format. 

 
8.11 Cheshire East Council urgently requires an appropriate future investment 

strategy.  This is needed before we can re-submit our Strategy for Change to 
the Primary Capital Programme (PCP), and submit our statement of ‘Readiness 
to Deliver’ to the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) Programme.  Both are 
potential major sources of investment for the next ten years and provide an 
opportunity we cannot afford to miss. 

 
 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 Cheshire East Council should review its commissioning of school places in 

accordance with the needs of the communities served by the Council and build 
upon the evidence base considered by this Task & Finish Group. The review 
should be conducted transparently and include all stakeholders. 

 
9.2 The recommended review should include commissioning arrangements for the 

provision of learning for all children and young people, including those with 
SEN and additional needs, and gifted and talented children.  Comments made 
by witnesses to the former County Council Scrutiny Group relative to special 
needs were also noted by the Group. The County Council had conducted a 
separate review of special needs in parallel with TLC. In view of the lack of 
special schools in Cheshire East the conclusion is that special needs 
considerations should be fully integrated into any system for the management 
of surplus places in main stream schools. 

 
9.3 The recommended review should cover all geographical areas and be phased 

according to priority needs. 
 
9.4 The review of the Funding Formula for schools should be prioritised and should 

clearly be driven by the need to improve outcomes for children and young 
people.  The review should be conducted swiftly.  The Council should consider 
what resources are required to enable this to be prioritised. 

 
9.5 There needs to be a clear policy framework for small and rural schools. 
 
9.6 The Council should develop a guidance note for Members on the role of 

federation and other forms of school governance in achieving structural 
transformation of education and reducing surplus places. 

 
9.7 The role of the Educational Improvement Partnership (EIP) is growing and they 

are becoming key stakeholders in service delivery. Any new system should 

Page 63



 

 33 

ensure that the EIPs play a significant role in formulating any any school 
reorganisation proposals. 

 
9.8 Future changes to school organisation may well require full cooperation of the 

respective Dioceses. It is recommended that more attention is paid to these 
relationships and that full account is taken of the special circumstances of 
church schools, during both the consideration and consultation stages of the 
process.  

 
9.9 The quality of existing information systems was not commented on in the 

former Cheshire County Council Report but it is clear that the quality of 
available data does need to be improved and the range of data extended to 
accommodate the needs of the strategy referred to in 9.1 above. PLASC data 
are released for each school term so adequate resource must be allocated to 
ensuring that such up-to-date information is readily available, in user-friendly 
form, to Members and Officers.  

 
9.10 The Group recommends that Cheshire East Council develop a sound future 

investment strategy for its schools estate. The investment strategy needs to be 
based upon robust and up to date information which in turn leads to timely 
conclusions and firm decisive action after appropriate consultation. In terms of 
any actions initiated the Council needs to be aware of the ‘capacity trap’.  Any 
proposed actions need to be adequately supported. The schools involved need 
to be fully supported but there also needs to be sufficient resources to manage 
the communications/public relations process. 

 
9.11 The Council also needs to develop a strategic vision for its future investment in 

schools in order to access vital sources of longer term external funding (via 
PCP and BSF) which will help address some of the issues raised in this report.  
The investment strategy must be informed by a robust and defensible 
methodology, which should now be developed.   

  

Page 64



 

 34 

Appendix A 
 

Projected Change in ECC Secondary School Surplus Places 2004-2015 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Alsager, Congleton, Sandbach & Holmes Chapel Locality:

 Change in Secondary School Surplus Places %, 2004 to 2016

0.4%

1.9%

4.4%

12.2%

14.1%

2.7%2.1%

1.4% 1.5%

3.8%

10.8%

7.8%

5.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S

u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s

Locality Actual Surplus Places %, 2004-2009

Locality Forecast Surplus Places %, 2010-2016

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Baseline of Jan' 2009 and forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

Typical Operating Level for Surplus Places (5-8%)

Trigger point for Local Authority to take action on Surplus Places (10%)

A projected increase in 

secondary surplus places from 

Jan' 2009 of 828 at Jan' 2016

Page 65



 

 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Crewe & Nantwich Locality:

 Change in Secondary School Surplus Places %, 2004 to 2016

9.1%

15.9%
16.5%

10.6% 10.1%

4.7%3.1%

10.2%

10.0%

7.2%

14.6%

13.1%

11.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S

u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s

Locality Actual Surplus Places %, 2004-2009

Locality Forecast Surplus Places %, 2010-2016

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Baseline of Jan' 2008 and forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

A projected increase in 

secondary surplus places from 

Jan' 2009 of 772 at Jan' 2016

Trigger point for Local Authority to take action on Surplus Places (10%)

Typical Operating Level for Surplus Places (5-8%)

Page 66



 

 36 

 

Knutsford, Wilmslow & Poynton Locality:

 Change in Secondary School Surplus Places %, 2004 to 2016

7.5%

11.8%

0.0%

2.6%

4.6%
3.7%

0.0%

0.4%

10.3%

6.3%

10.2%9.1%

8.2%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S

u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s

Locality Actual Surplus Places %, 2004-2009

Locality Forecast Surplus Places %, 2010-2016

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Baseline of Jan' 2008 and forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

A projected increase in 

secondary surplus places from 

Jan' 2009 of 338 at Jan' 2016

Trigger point for Local Authority to take action on Surplus Places (10%)

Typical Operating Level for Surplus Places (5-8%)

Page 67



 

 37 

 

Macclesfield Locality:

 Change in Secondary School Surplus Places %, 2004 to 2016

11.3%

17.9%

9.7%

5.5%

9.3%
8.3%

2.3%

2.9%

16.1%

10.5%

15.7%
13.7%

12.9%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Year

T
o
ta

l 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S

u
rp

lu
s
 P

la
c
e
s

Locality Actual Surplus Places %, 2004-2009

Locality Forecast Surplus Places %, 2010-2016

Source: PLASC, DfES Returns, Jan' 2004 - Jan' 2009

Baseline of Jan' 2008 and forecasts of Feb 09

Note:  The forecast data  includes mainstream and special unit pupils

A projected increase in 

secondary surplus places from 

Jan' 2009 of 407 at Jan' 2016

Trigger point for Local Authority to take action on Surplus Places 

(10%)

Typical Operating Level for Surplus Places (5-8%)

Page 68



 

 38 

Appendix B 
Surplus Primary School Places within EIPs 

  
 

Table 1 
Primary Schools within the Alsager EIP 

 
 
 
 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 40 233 278 271 0% £2,794 51% 101.7 98% 100% 

School B N/A 105 46 N/A 56% £4,336 13% 101 100% 73% 

School 
C 

45 315 237 178 25% £2,797 51% 100 84% 93% 

School 
D 

30 210 203 194 3% £2,874 53% 100.3 96% 92% 

School E 30 210 214 207 0% £2,834 73% 100.2 100% 97% 

School F 30 210 160 173 24% £3,101 77% 100.4 95% 100% 

School 
G 

30 210 206 193 2% £2,662 N/A 101.5 100% 96% 

TOTAL 205 1,493 1,344 1,216 10% £3,057     

 
 
 
EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 69



 

 39 

 
Table 2 

Primary Schools within the Congleton EIP 
 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School 
A 

16 112 127 128 0% £3,213 44% 100.5 83% 92% 

School 
B 

40 240 237 260 1% £2,761 57% 101.8 97% 89% 

School 
C 

9 55 45 55 18% £4,159 79% 100 92% 69% 

School 
D 

30 178 159 175 11% £3,669 40% 102 100% 83% 

School 
E 

60 390 224 160 43% £3,284 37% 98.2 89% 73% 

School 
F 

25 150 150 169 0% £3,515 49% 101.3 94% 89% 

School 
G 

30 180 191 174 0% £4,672 18% 100.2 80% 80% 

School 
H 

30 210 178 199 15% £2,810 67% 99.4 93% 97% 

School I 50 350 322 355 8% £2,889 79% 99.1 93% 91% 

School 
J 

30 230 153 143 27% £2,844 61% 100 76% 79% 

School 
K 

16 112 121 125 0% £3,354 54% 100.7 89% 100% 

School 
L 

27 180 127 158 29% £3,470 N/A 101.6 82% 82% 

School 
M 

50 330 303 318 8% £2,605 76% 100 97% 100% 

School 
N 

15 89 67 97 25% £3,999 43% 99.5 75% 75% 

TOTAL 428 2,806 2,404 2,516 14% £3,375     

 
EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 70



 

 40 

 
 

Table 3 
Primary Schools Crewe and Shavington EIPs 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School 
A 

40 280 252 256 10% £3,543 76% 99.9 77% 72% 

School 
B 

30 210 127 178 40% £4,080 18% 99.7 60% 72% 

School 
C 

30 210 219 189 0% £2,939 37% 99.3 71% 77% 

School 
D 

60 420 420 418 0% £2,986 53% 98.3 73% 72% 

School 
E 

60 420 386 421 8% £3,204 66% 102.1 88% 94% 

School 
F 

60 420 403 401 4% £2,985 48% 101.5 96% 96% 

School 
G 

81 567 485 475 15% £2,630 65% 99.1 83% 83% 

School 
H 

60 420 317 353 25% £3,148 50% 100.9 80% 85% 

School I 45 315 277 312 12% £3,663 37% 98.9 43% 50% 

School J 30 210 181 198 14% £3,522 34% 100.5 88% 88% 

School 
K 

70 490 544 545 0% £2,620 N/A 99.9 71% 65% 

School 
L 

60 442 417 422 6% £4,047 44% 96.6 47% 41% 

School 
M 

30 210 210 200 0% £2,883 38% 99.2 84% 84% 

School 
N 

60 390 282 280 28% £3,358 33% 96.9 58% 58% 

School 
O 

30 378 245 203 35% £2,788 65% 100 85% 85% 

School 
P 

50 351 316 301 10% £2,661 71% 99.8 95% 78% 

School 
Q 

38 266 198 233 26% £2,833 80% 100.7 96% 96% 

School 
R 

60 420 404 420 4% £2,577 63% n/a 97% 93% 

School 
S 

30 208 185 167 11% £2,724 78% 101 97% 97% 

TOTAL 924 6,627 5,868 5,972 11% £3,115     

 
 
 

Page 71



 

 41 

Table 4 
Holmes Chapel EIP 

 
 
 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School 
A 

30 150 108 149 28% £3,418 40% 100.9 89% 89% 

School 
B 

15 90 47 38 48% £4,190 50% 98.9 100% 100% 

School 
C 

30 209 209 198 0% £3,055 83% 101 94% 97% 

School 
D 

30 210 202 204 4% £3,276 52% 100.9 88% 84% 

School 
E 

60 420 370 367 12% £2,715 79% 99.1 92% 84% 

School 
F 

11 77 68 63 12% £3,912 40% 100.5 90% 100% 

TOTAL 176 1,156 1,004 1,019 13% £3,428     

 
 
 
 
EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 72



 

 42 

 
Table 5 

Primary Schools in the Knutsford EIP 
 
 
 
 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 60 420 406 402 3% £3,225 75% 99 86% 78% 

School B 30 210 197 210 6% £2,911 54% 99.2 100% 93% 

School 
C 

21 147 126 133 14% £3,290 76% 100.2 92% 100% 

School 
D 

15 105 70 85 33% £4,729 83% 99.8 91% 91% 

School E 30 210 167 176 21% £3,589 37% 99.3 81% 70% 

School F 20 140 128 143 9% £3,207 62% 100.1 81% 56% 

School 
G 

30 180 194 214 0% £2,839 N/A 99.2 100% 97% 

TOTAL 206 1,412 1,288 1,363 9% £3,399     

 
 
 

EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 73



 

 43 

 
 

Table 6 
Primary Schools within the Macclesfield and Bollington EIP 

 
 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil @ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 

& 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 25 149 94 97 37% £4,603 20% 98.9 58% 33% 

School B 30 209 179 188 14% £2,873 63% 99.6 80% 77% 

School C 22 150 96 150 36% £4,025 16% ** 101.1 82% 82% 

School D 17 119 49 36 59% £4,686 10% ** 100.5 100% 82% 

School E 30 210 108 95 49% £5,281 14% * 97.8 63% 71% 

School F 30 210 181 173 14% £2,915 34% ** 100.6 97% 100% 

School G 30 210 200 204 5% £3,011 85% 100.1 93% 89% 

School H 30 210 173 199 18% £2,926 72% 101 100% 91% 

School I 25 158 100 77 37% £4,143 24% 101.7 83% 75% 

School J 54 378 299 323 21% £3,846 29% * 100.6 78% 63% 

School K 9 63 47 63 25% £3,964 94% 100.1 100% 82% 

School L 24 163 161 164 1% £3,258 77% 100.8 81% 81% 

School M 60 420 402 419 4% £2,783 50% 100.6 79% 80% 

School N 6 42 38 29 10% £5,627 33% 100.1 100% 100% 

School O 40 280 289 298 0% £2,663 81% 100.9 100% 98% 

School P 60 420 303 253 28% £3,693 57% 98.7 81% 79% 

School Q 25 175 158 178 10% £3,074 78% 100.4 100% 100% 

School R 60 418 369 348 12% £2,653 N/A 101.2 98% 96% 

School S 30 210 81 84 61% £5,098 32% 100.5 57% 74% 

School T 30 210 134 128 36% £3,605 N/A 99.2 78% 74% 

School U 15 105 90 73 14% £3,335 N/A 98.9 89% 89% 

School V 45 315 316 318 0% £2,875 N/A 98.9 84% 76% 

School W 60 420 378 348 10% £2,768 58% 100.3 82% 85% 

School X 60 420 326 352 22% £3,215 41% n/a 91% 87% 

School Y 30 210 201 221 4% £3,047 45% 100 97% 90% 

School Z 7 49 54 48 0% £3,680 82% 100.6 100% 100% 

TOTAL 854 5,923 4,826 4,866 19% £3,602     

 
 
* Indicates choice of catchment  
** Indicates shared catchment 

Page 74



 

 44 

 
 

Table 7 
Primary Schools within the Middlewich EIP 

 
 
 
 
 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 
& attending 

school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 
60 420 389 304 7% £2,828 61% N/A #N/A #N/A 

School B 
60 420 376 350 11% £3,261 38% 98.5 80% 84% 

School C 
35 240 226 224 6% £2,822 N/A 100.6 97% 97% 

School D 
8 56 63 60 0% £4,090 48% 100.6 82% 82% 

TOTAL 163 1,136 1,054 938 7% £3,250     

 
 

 
 
 

EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 75



 

 45 

 
 
 
 

Table 8 
Primary Schools within the Nantwich EIP 

 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 

pupils living 
in 

catchment & 
attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 20 140 110 123 21% £3,264 55% 99.7 82% 73% 

School B 30 208 183 168 12% £3,011 84% 99.6 86% 79% 

School C 12 84 76 64 10% £3,907 76% 99.6 92% 92% 

School D 30 210 192 190 9% £2,882 55% 100.9 97% 93% 

School E 30 210 195 200 7% £2,921 57% 99.7 72% 76% 

School F 30 210 198 204 6% £3,103 46% 99.3 91% 88% 

School G 17 119 112 118 6% £3,003 54% 100.5 100% 100% 

School H 30 210 191 205 9% £2,793 N/A 101 86% 90% 

School I 7 49 43 51 12% £4,927 57% 99.5 83% 67% 

School J 30 204 188 198 8% £2,747 60% 101.1 83% 83% 

School K 30 210 211 210 0% £2,792 55% 100 94% 83% 

School L 30 210 199 206 5% £2,790 61% 100.5 100% 100% 

School M 20 140 121 123 14% £3,022 71% 100.5 100% 100% 

School N 30 200 165 193 18% £4,149 37% 100.5 68% 74% 

TOTAL 346 2,404 2,184 2,253 9% £3,236     

 
 
 

Page 76



 

 46 

 
 

Table 9 
Primary Schools with the Poynton and Disley EIP 

 
 

 
 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age pupils 

living in 
catchment & 

attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 15 105 93 108 11% £3,639 51% 100.6 100% 100% 

School B 30 210 182 144 13% £3,130 95% 99.5 83% 86% 

School C 21 147 122 120 17% £3,287 59% 101.3 100% 94% 

School D 40 280 279 278 0% £2,778 69% 100.1 98% 90% 

School E 20 120 100 84 17% £3,538 N/A 99.1 88% 94% 

School F 45 315 330 344 0% £2,944 55% 98.2 77% 75% 

School G 30 210 205 183 2% £2,729 66% 100.2 100% 100% 

TOTAL 201 1,387 1,311 1,261 5% £3,149     

 
 
 
 
EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added  

Page 77



 

 47 

Table 10 
Primary Schools with the Sandbach EIP 

 
 
 
 
 

School 

PAN  
@ 

Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age 
pupils 

living in 
catchment 
& attending 

school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School 
A 

40 280 279 280 0% £2,798 57% 98.9 85% 85% 

School 
B 

30 209 171 191 18% £3,591 50% 100.1 91% 88% 

School 
C 

50 329 266 229 19% £2,825 62% 99.8 98% 82% 

School 
D 

60 420 328 326 22% £2,839 77% 99.2 67% 78% 

School 
E 

30 210 131 106 38% £4,021 34% 99.1 72% 68% 

School 
F 

30 150 133 114 11% £3,253 83% 98.3 93% 93% 

School 
G 

50 350 326 341 7% £2,589 75% 99.4 80% 81% 

School 
H 

30 210 211 209 0% £3,018 50% 100.5 93% 87% 

TOTAL 320 2,158 1,845 1,796 15% £3,117     

 
 
 
 
EIP = Education Improvement Partnership 
NOR = Number of children on the school roll 
CVA = Contextual Value Added 

Page 78



 

 48 

 
Table 11 

Primary Schools with the Wilmslow & Alderley Edge EIP 
 
 
 

School 
PAN  

@ Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 09 

NOR 
@ 

Jan 
09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2014 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Cost 
Per 
Pupil 
@ 
2009/10 

Popularity 
(%age pupils 

living in 
catchment & 

attending 
school) 

CVA 
Score  

English 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

Maths 
pass 
rate 
L4+ 

School A 30 210 219 212 0% £2,869 72% 100 90% 93% 

School B 60 420 420 406 2% £2,536 75% 102 100% 98% 

School C 45 378 301 310 20% £3,052 47% * n/a 89% 89% 

School D 60 420 403 393 4% £2,686 81% * 100.3 98% 94% 

School E 30 210 220 237 0% £2,965 57% 101.3 90% 85% 

School F 21 150 140 159 7% £4,392 28% 101.3 75% 67% 

School G 15 105 102 100 3% £3,303 45% 100.2 77% 77% 

School H 19 133 117 119 12% £3,680 34% * 100.2 94% 69% 

School I 26 182 186 186 0% £2,921 N/A 100.4 91% 87% 

School J 15 105 107 105 0% £3,443 63% 99.2 73% 60% 

School K 34 240 214 216 11% £3,307 60% 100.3 71% 68% 

TOTAL 355 2,553 2,429 2,443 5% £3,196     

  
 
 
 
 
* Indicates choice of catchment  
** Indicates shared catchment 
 

Page 79



 

 49 

Table 12 
Summary data for Secondary Schools within Cheshire East 

 

School 
PAN 
@ Jan 
09 

Net 
Capacity 
@ Jan 

09 

NOR 
@ Jan 

09 

Forecast 
NOR @ 

Jan 
2013 

Cost 
Per 

Pupil @ 
2009/10 

% 
Surplus 
Places 
@ Jan 

09 

Popularity 
(%age 

pupils living 
in 

catchment 
& attending 

school) 

CVA 
Score  

% of pupils 
achieving 5+ 
A* to C inc. A* 

to C GCSE 
Eng & Maths  

School A 210 1,258 1,120 1,009 £3,767 11% N/A 983.8 61% 

School B 225 1,362 1,354 1,251 £3,770 1% 95% 998.6 61% 

School C 210 1,050 1,058 952 £3,583 0% 79% 1022 64% 

School D 180 1,134 1,064 941 £4,019 6% 67% 983.6 52% 

School E 180 1,143 1,009 948 £4,133 12% 70% 987 53% 

School F 240 1,238 1,504 1,400 £3,849 0% 79% 1005 74% 

School G 200 1,180 1,174 1,085 £3,732 1% 85% 1004 70% 

School H 156 780 773 720 £4,074 1% 31% 970.8 28% 

School I 260 1,606 1,419 1,263 £3,979 12% 82% 988.3 51% 

School J 180 1,100 817 665 £4,435 26% 33% * 981.3 42% 

School K 210 1,384 1,324 1,217 £3,707 4% 69% 983.2 53% 

School L 140 700 655 590 £4,379 6% 55% 993.8 49% 

School M 246 1,529 1,587 1,475 £3,756 0% 95% 1005 68% 

School N 140 666 694 690 £4,007 0% 53% 986.8 33% 

School O 210 1,285 1,366 1,194 £3,713 0% 49% ** 1017 79% 

School P 195 1,167 1,117 1,066 £4,606 4% 45% N/A 68% 

School Q 197 970 814 609 £3,759 16% 50% 989.2 46% 

School R 210 1,050 993 756 £4,538 5% 37% 1005 25% 

School S 127 635 619 636 £3,928 3% N/A 1000 61% 

School T 210 1,214 1,158 1,055 £3,911 5% 67% * 991.4 56% 

School U 300 1,836 1,946 1,878 £3,855 0% 89% 989.2 67% 

TOTAL  4,226 24,287 23,565 21,400 £3,910 5%       

 
 
* Indicates choice of catchment  
** Indicates shared catchment 
 

 

Page 80



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

16th November 2009 

Report of: John Weeks, Strategic Director - People 
Subject/Title: Inspection of Youth Offending Services 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The Report is to inform Members of the outcome of an inspection of Cheshire 

Youth Offending Service (CYOS) by HMI Probation Inspector.  
 
1.2 Following the completion of HMI Probation’s inspection of Cheshire YOS in 

August 2009, HM Chief Inspector of Probation Andrew Bridges commented ‘we 
consider this an encouraging set of results’. The work that CYOS does is 
considered to be good overall and the commitment of YOS staff to making a 
difference to the lives of young people was named as a key strength. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 To note the outcome of the inspection  
 
2.2 Members may wish to consider what advice, if any, they give to the Director of 

Peoples Services regarding the findings and recommendations of the 
Inspection report. 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1  To brief Members and for Members to consider whether they wish to 

offer any advice. 
 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 N/A 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 None 
 

Agenda Item 7Page 81



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 
Treasurer) 

 
7.1 None 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
8.1 None 
 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1 None 
 
10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 N/A 
 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1 Summary of the Inspection report is attached as Appendix 1 
 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1 None 
 
13.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 
 Name:  Penny Sharland 
 Designation: YOS Manager 

           Tel No:  01606 305251 
            Email:  penny.sharland@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 82



Cheshire YOS HMIP Inspection 2009 

 
AN “ENCOURAGING RESULT” FOR YOS 
 
Following the completion of HMI Probation’s inspection of Cheshire YOS in August 
2009, HM Chief Inspector of Probation Andrew Bridges commented ‘we consider this 
an encouraging set of results’. The work that CYOS does is considered to be good 
overall and the commitment of YOS staff to making a difference to the lives of young 
people was named as a key strength.  
 
The HMIP report published on 12th Oct 2009 comments that a recent change in 
senior management has already resulted in greater stability and increased the 
prospect for making improvements. There is work to be done to improve some 
aspects of safeguarding and the management of risk to others. The YOS will need to 
develop its approaches to assessment, particularly on vulnerability and risk. 
 
What the percentages below describe is that overall, HMIP judged that safeguarding 
work was completed sufficiently and robustly in 7 out of 10 cases, work to protect the 
public was completed well in 7 out of 10 cases, and work to reduce reoffending was 
done well in 8 out of 10 cases. 
 

 

 

Cheshire in comparison to other NW YOTs 

 YOS Work to reduce 
safeguarding 
concerns 

Work to reduce 
risk of harm 

Work to reduce 
reoffending 

Cheshire 69% 69% 77% 

Halton & Warrington 79% 76% 78% 

Sefton 38% 36% 50% 

Lancashire 52% 51% 60% 

St Helens 74% 66% 72% 

 

 

HOW THE INSPECTION WAS CARRIED OUT 
 
A representative sample of 80 cases from East and West Cheshire were        
examined and case managers were interviewed about their practice in each     
individual case. This process was undertaken by five inspectors over four days in 
August 2009.  Supporting evidence for each element of the inspection criteria was 
provided in advance to the inspectors.  Young people and victims were also 
consulted via questionnaires and their responses   analysed. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case sample information: Cheshire

20

42

17

66

13

79

0 0

19

42

18

8

71

0

20

40

60

80

U
nd
er
 1
6

16
-1
7

18
+

M
al
e

F
em
al
e

W
hi
te

B
la
ck
 &
 M
in
or
ity
 E
th
ni
c

O
th
er
 G
ro
up
s

F
irs
t T
ie
r

C
om
m
un
ity
 S
up
er
vi
si
on

C
us
to
dy

H
ig
h/
V
er
y 
H
ig
h 
R
O
H

N
ot
 H
ig
h 
R
O
H

Page 83



 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM HMIP 
 
The report concludes that changes are necessary to ensure that, in a higher 
proportion of cases: 
 
The vulnerability and safeguarding needs of children and young people are correctly 

identified and addressed. 
A timely and good quality assessment of the individual’s ‘risk of harm to others’ is 

completed at the start of an intervention, as appropriate to the specific case. 
As a consequence of the assessment, the record of the intervention plan is specific 

about what will now be done in order to safeguard the young person’s 
wellbeing, to make him/her less likely to reoffend, and to minimise any 
identified risk of harm to others. 

Management oversight of work to address safeguarding and the risk of harm to 
others can be seen to support improvements in practice. 

 

 

WHAT THE INSPECTORS FOUND 
 
The following summaries appear in the full report:  
 
1. Assessment and Planning 
 
The completion rates for assessments and plans indicated a YOS where systems 
were in place to ensure that they were done. This was supported by an auditing 
process that included feedback to case managers about the quality of their work and 
suggesting improvements. Case managers were positive about the support provided 
to them. That there was a need to     introduce more consistency into the quality of 
planning and management oversight was already understood by the new 
management team.   
 
Whilst assessment and planning in relation both to ROSH and safeguarding was a 
weakness for the service overall, this did not include all staff. We met some 
outstanding case managers who were working imaginatively and with     confidence 
with potentially dangerous and damaged young people to     protect them and the 
public from harm. They made excellent use of the multi-agency resources available 
to them to plan for the best service      possible. 
 
 

2. Delivery and Review of Interventions 

Case managers were clear that their role was to manage the case and to pull in 
resources, from elsewhere within the YOS or to other agencies, and to achieve plans 
to manage the LoR. Attention to offending behaviour was encouraging; case 
managers engaged positively with this issue themselves and made appropriate 
referrals.  

The level of resources available internally for delivering interventions appeared to be 
appropriate with some external gaps noted above. Young people with many needs 
could appropriately find themselves very busy which was often a form of positive 
containment, particularly for those not in Education or Training. 

Page 84



 

An improvement plan addressing the recommendations is submitted to HMIP 
in November 2009 and the Youth Justice Board monitor its implementation. 

 

 

GENERAL CRITERION SCORES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Outcomes 

It was encouraging to see that progress in relation to factors linked to offending was 
almost as positive in the custody sample as with those young people subject to 
community orders. Despite the lack of offending behaviour work in secure 
establishments, here were resources to address linked needs eg. substance misuse. 
Enforcement practice needed a more consistent approach. In the community it was 
encouraging to see the consideration of an exit strategy that might sustain the young 
person in the future rather than just drawing a line under supervision. 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

 
For further information contact: Penny Sharland, Head of Service, Cheshire Youth 
Offending Service, 2 The Stables, Gadbrook Park, Northwich, Cheshire, CW9 7RJ. 
 
Tel: 01606 305251  E-Mail: penny.sharland@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

Or visit:   http://www.inspectorates.justice.gov.uk/hmiprobation 
 

 

 

Cheshire CCI July 2009

General Criterion Scores

71% 71%

65%

70% 71%

83%

78% 77%

59%

80%

66%

0%

25%

50%

75%

100%

1.1: Risk of

Harm to

others –

assessment

and planning

1.2:

Likelihood of

Reoffending –

assessment

and planning

1.3:

Safeguarding

– assessment

and planning

Section 1:

Assessment

& Planning

2.1:

Protecting the

Public by

minimising

Risk of Harm

to others

2.2: Reducing

the Likelihood

of

Reoffending

2.3:

Safeguarding

the child or

young person

Section 2:

Interventions

3.1:

Achievement

of outcomes

3.2:

Sustaining

outcomes

Section 3:

Outcomes

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Date of Meeting: 

 
16th November 

Report of: John Weeks, Strategic Director - People 
Subject/Title: Children & Families Performance Score Card & Local 

Authority Ofsted Profile 

___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on continuing 

developments around performance data across Cheshire East. This paper 
builds upon the previous paper presented at the last Scrutiny meeting where 
the proposed performance Score Card was agreed. This score card process 
needs to be considered within the context of their wider performance reporting 
process which primarily refers to the analysis of Corporate performance across 
all of the National Indicator Sets. A summary of performance has been taken 
through full Cabinet by Janis Grant based upon Quarter 2 returns and will result 
in specific actions as agreed with Cabinet There is clearly a need for a 
consistent approach across all Corporate functions in terms of reporting 
procedures to show progress against targets within the Corporate Business 
Plan. 

 
 The Local Authority has also recently received its Ofsted Children’s Service 

performance profile which summarises the outcomes from inspections 
undertaken across all Children’s Services. The headlines from this profile are 
included within this report. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The information included within this paper is for information and does not 

require a specific recommendation. It will however be the case that the 
Committee will want to make judgements on those priority areas which have 
been identified so that there is agreement on those areas which are considered 
as high risk. There is a significant issue for 2009-10 in terms of being able to 
assess our progress against agreed targets. Due to the LGR process, there are 
few specific targets available for Cheshire East which therefore limits our 
capacity to accurately monitor rates of progress over the year.  

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is important that members are fully informed about the reporting process and 

that there is an agreement on the priority areas resulting from the data 
available. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 87



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All localities will be affected by this reporting framework. Ultimately, Ward   
 information will be presented which will allow clear comparative information to   

be available which will highlight areas of high performance/outcomes as well as 
those which may identify real areas of need and therefore potential additional 
support and development. 

 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
5.1 None identified  
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 The Corporate Plan outlines the organisation’s 20 priorities which reflect the 

needs to our communities. These priorities are aligned to local partnership 
arrangements as part of the Local Area Agreement. The agreed reporting 
template includes many of these priority areas (in the majority of cases, through 
identified National Indicators) as they apply to C&F and the direct work of 
service teams.  

 
6.2 In creating the format and style of the interim score card, it has been a 

deliberate decision to maintain a real sense of priority and avoid a format which 
includes over-elaborated detail and information. Through discussion with key 
performance managers, the following priority areas have been agreed: 

 
   6 Local Area Agreement National Indicators     
 10 Statutory National Indicators 
             8 Other critical National Indicators 
            A variety of other locally identified priority areas. 
 
 
7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
7.1 None 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
8.1 The establishment of an effective and robust performance reporting regime will 

require an evaluation of the job descriptions of staff identified within the Quality 
Assurance section of the Improvement & Achievement Service. There will be 
some integration of personnel across different teams which may result in some 
financial savings as clarity is reached over the size and function of performance 
staffing. 

 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1 None 
 

Page 88



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 The key risk is that without a structured and ultimately integrated performance 

reporting system, the Local Authority would not be in a position to report 
accurately on its performance against key indicators and undertake a quarterly 
review of progress. 

 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1    C&F Performance Priorities (Appendix A) 
 
At a recent C&F Performance reporting day, all service managers considered the 
performance data currently available and agreed a series of priority themes which will 
be used to shape all work of service teams and the priorities which it needs to 
address.  A list of proxy measures are being identified which will be used to monitor 
progress across these themes. In summary, these areas include: 
 
a. Early Intervention 
b. Narrowing the Gap 
c. Family Support 
d. Emotional Health & Well Being 
e. Economic Development, Skills & Learning. 
 
11.2 Ofsted profile of Children’s Services Profile ( Appendix B ) 
 
The key issues raised within the profile include: 
 
a.  Only one of the ten indicators is judged as Red (at Risk). This relates to inspection 

of  Children’s Homes but is based upon an inspection in a single Children’s Home. 
b.  Six of the ten indicators are judged as Green (positive outcomes). 
c.  Two of the three amber indicators are identified as being our priority areas. These 

relate to the number of Secondary schools and 6th Forms which are judged as 
being Good or Outstanding across Cheshire East. Our performance is below the 
national average as well as for similar areas. 

 
Further information and data will become available to the Authority later this term from 
Ofsted which will give us more detailed information. 
 
11.3     Performance Report Card – Quarter 2 return (Appendix C) 
 
The key issues raised from the data available include: 
 
a.  Overall, there is a need to identify intermediate targets for many of the indicators so 

that ongoing performance can be measured against these targets. Many of the 
targets are annual and there is a real need to build in more detailed assessments 
during the year. 

b.  Under 18 Conception rates need to continue to be a priority and should be 
reflected in current work by the Local Authority targeting Teenage Pregnancies (a 
summary of which was presented to Scrutiny last meeting by Lorraine Butcher) 

c.  NEET: the current trend in NEET figures across Cheshire East is rising which 
reflects the national picture. The gap between current NEET figures and the target 

Page 89



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

set being around 1.5%. Actions need to be coordinated on a locality basis to 
address this priority which integrates the work of both C&F service teams as well 
as commissioned services (Connexions). 

d.  The number of secondary schools who achieve 5+A* - C including English & 
Maths: whilst the overall rate continues to improve, there is a need to ensure that 
improvements are made in targeted schools which results in Cheshire East being 
at least within the expected range for similar schools across all schools.  

e.  The performance of Cared for Children in relation to educational attainment: there 
is a need to increase the focus for this vulnerable group to ensure that sufficient 
resources are being provided to ensure that Cared for Children make appropriate 
progress. 

f.  Integrated Service – The number of initial and core assessment carried out: within 
the redesign process for C&F Integrated Services, there is a clear need to maintain 
the focus on the assessment process. 

g.  School Attendance: there is a need to maintain the focus on target pupils who are 
categorised as Persistent Absence (PA). 

h.  The number and quality of CAFs completed: there is a review of the CAF process 
currently taking place in terms of quality and completion.   

 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1   In the near future, a detailed plan showing the actions resulting from these 

priorities will be produced which will give specific milestones during the coming 
year. (Appendix D) 

 
13.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 
 Name:               Mark Bayley  
 Designation:      Quality Assurance Manager 

           Tel No:              01244 972411 
            Email:              Mark.bayley@cheshire.gov.uk  

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 90



C&F  PERFORMANCE PRIORITIES   2009/10  Appendix A

NARROWING THE 

GAP
NI 72, NI 92 NI 99, Ni 101

FAMILY 

SUPPORT
NI 114, NI 51, NI53, 

NI61, NI62, 

EMOTIONAL 

HEALTH & WB
NI 56  NI 58  NI 112  

NI145 NI 50 NI 52/53 

NI 57, NI69, 

ECON. DEV

SKILLS & 

LEARNING
NI 79, NI 80, NI 81, NI 85

NI117, NI 45

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

EARLY

INTERVENTION :
Ni 019, NI59, NI60, 

Ni68,  NI73, NI 75, NI 

76, NI 78, 

YOUNG PEOPLE’S VOICE

� Fewer C4C Children     

� Reduce levels of 

referral to Initial 

Assessment 

� Referrals need to be

appropriate 

� CAF Completion & 

Quality of 

Intervention

� Attendance/PA Rates 

Fixed Terms

Exclusions

� Failure to attend 

Health Checks.

� No. of ONSET 

assessments

� Pupil progress 

mapped against 

postcode SOA

� Take up of EY 

provision

� PA Data

� Exclusions

�Gender/Ethnicity/EAL

� NAP Programmes

� Housing 

� Domestic Violence

� Adult Learning

� Tell Us Survey –

Bullying / PASS

� Strength & 

Difficulties 

Questionnaire

� Healthy Schools 

Standard

� SEAL ?

� Absence/Attendance 

data

� Children missing  

from home

� Pupils at A&E

� School Health 

Service data

� Alcohol / Sub

� NEET Data / EET

� YO

� LLDD – Disabled 

�Transition Plans

� FE Numbers – LSC

� Homelessness

� Apprenticeships

� E2E Data / FLT

�Work Placements

P

R

O

X 

Y

M

E

A

S

U

R

E

S

Families needs are 

addressed earlier

All children make 

progress in their 

learning regardless 

of where they live

Parents are supported 

to improve their 

child’s 

learning, health and 

well being

All C&YP are 

happy, confident & 

healthy in their lives

Successful 

transition into 

Adulthood

O

U

T

C

O

M

E

S

P
a
g
e
 9

1



Page 92

This page is intentionally left blank



Local area children's services performance profile: 

summary profile

Inspected Services

% of providers judged outstanding, good, satisfactory, inadequate for Overall Effectiveness

Click here for further detail and ECM judgements

Number Inspected

Outstanding/Good/
Satisfactory/ Inadequate 

%Good or 
Better

Similar
Areas

National
Average

Childminder 296 5 59 33 3 64% above above

Childcare - Domestic

Childcare - Non-Domestic 253 6 66 27 1 72% above above

Nursery 38 13 72 15 85% above above

Primary 125 18 53 28 1 71% above above

Secondary 20 25 30 45 55% below below

Sixth Form School 15 40 20 40 60% below below

Special 4 75 25 100% above above

Pupil Referral Unit

General Further Education 
and Tertiary

3 100 100% above above

Sixth Form College

Independent Specialist 
College

1 100 100% above

Children's Home 1 100 0% below below

Local Authority Fostering 
Agency

Local Authority Adoption 
Agency

Private Fostering 
Arrangements

Every Child Matters indicators: National Indicator Set

Click here to view all latest NIS data

Count of indicators 
with data

Comparison with 
Similar Areas

Comparison with 
National Average

Data
Available

Total
NIS

% of Indicators in upper/upper 
middle/ lower middle/lower 
quartiles Above In line Below Above  In line Below

1. Being healthy 0 11

2. Staying safe 0 14

3. Enjoying and 
achieving

1 36 100 1 0 0 1 0 0

4. Making a positive 
contribution

0 15

5. Achieving 
economic well-being

0 11

Notes:
1) Please see the Ofsted publication 'CAA: annual rating of council children's services' for a full list of the indicators used to produce this 
summary profile, indicators included in the full performance profile, and other evidence used to inform the children and young people 
element of the joint inspectorate CAA report. 
2) For inspected services data the bands for % judged good or better arebased on the fol lowi ng cut  of f poi nt s: dar k gr een is 80% of 
providers or over, light green is 65-79.99%, amber is 50-64.99%, red is less than 50%.
3) For ECM/NIS data, data available is the number of indicators where data currently available to Ofsted, and total NIS is the number of 
NIS indicators relevant to this outcome. Some NIS are not available until the second year of CAA. For year 1 the bands are based on 
quartile distribution. The most up to date time period available is usedfor  the summa r y pr of i le,  but  time  per iods var y bet we en di ffer ent  
indicators (for instance financial or academic year). ECM grades from Ofsted inspections of providers will also be considered as part of the 
full performance profile. 
4) Comparison with similar areas is based on the children's services statistical neighbours groups developed by NFER and DCSF.
5) NI78, NI67, NI89a and NI76 have been excluded from the quartiles banding and comparisons with Statistical Neighbours and National 
Average
6) Sixth form schools includes secondary schools, special schools and PRUs

Local area:

Reporting Date: 

Cheshire East

Quarter 3 : 14 August 2009

Safeguarding and looked after children inspections, including unannounced inspections and 
serious case reviews

Joint Area Review n/a Looked after Children n/a

n/a Safeguarding n/a

Serious Case Reviews conducted adequately or better 01/04/07 - 15/07/09 0 out of 1

Annual unannounced referral and assessment (safeguarding) 
inspection

n/a n/a

Three-yearly inspection of safeguarding n/a n/a

Three-yearly inspection of services for looked after children n/a n/a

P
a
g
e
 9

3



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



Children & Families Performance Report Card 2009-10 ( Interim ) 

Previous reporting period    Not Applicable

Currenty reporting period     Quarter 2 : July - September 2009

Authors : Rick Howell,  Mark Bayley

Key Performance or Outcome 

information

B
a
s
e
li
n
e
 (
a
s
 

a
t 
1
/4
/0
9
)

L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
rg
e
t/
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 

0
9
/1
0

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2

T
re
n
d
/s
 

S
ta
t 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
 

(0
8
/0
9
)

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l

Current 

Position in 

relation to 

Target 

(RAG) In
d
ic
. 
O
w
n
e
r

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 

w
it
h
in
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2

D
a
ta
 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
r 
/ 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

Local Area Agreement NIS (6)

NI 56 - Obesity in Primary School 

Age Children in Year 6

17.9% 

(2007)
17.00% Annual Only �� TBC TBC

No  Quarter 

Judgement 

possible

PCT

PCT weighing & 

measuring 

programme : 

progressing well

Jane 

Branson

NI 58 - Emotional and behavioural 

health of looked after children
15.2 Annual Only �� N/a N/a

No  Quarter 

Judgement 

possible

Children's 

Trust

Currently reviewed 

annually as part of 

SSDA903 return for 

CfC

Glynis 

Williams

NI 68 - Percentage of referrals to 

children's social care going on to 

initial assessment

75.30% 80% 85% �� Worst  = 37% 

Best = 96%
59.40%

Children's 

Trust

Performance is 

reported through the 

proxy measure and is 

indicative only. 

Joy Ford

NI 111 - The number of first-time 

entrants to the youth justice 

system.

518               
(-31.4% 

reduction 

achieved during 

0/09)

492 (-2%)
124   Q2 

Target �☺ Best = -69%, 

Worst 27%
-18.70%

Children's 

Trust

Performance in Q1 

was 72 against target 

of 124 - very positive 

trend

Police / 

Alistair 

Jordan

NI 112 - Under 18 Conception rate -8.10% -29% Annual Only �� Best = -36.2%, 

Worst = +19%
 -10.7% 
(England)

Children's 

Trust

small indicative fall in 

data - not 

substantive.

ONS / 

Janet Smith

NI 117 - 16 to 18 year olds who 

are NEET

5.2%    

(2007)
4.40% 6.00% �� 08/09     6.6% 

Eng  8.4% NW

Children's 

Trust

Performance is still 

releatively strong 

compatred to 

national and NW 

data

Steve Hoy

2009/2010 Quarter 2 : July - September 2009

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 2
0
0
9
 A
p
ri
l 
- 
J
u
n
e

                                         

P
a
g
e
 9

5



Statutory NIS (10)

NI 72 - Achievement of at least 78 

points across the Early Years 

Foundation Stage with at least 6 in 

each of the scales in Personal 

Social and Emotional 

Development and Communication, 

Language and Literacy

61.70% 71.90% 60.70% � Best = 65%, 

Worst = 40%

50.4% 
(N.West 07/08 

Acad)

Fintan 

Bradley

R&I / Carol 

Sharples

NI 73 - Achievement at level 4 or 

above in both English and Maths 

at Key Stage 2

79% 85% 78% � N/K
Fintan 

Bradley

Target for this 

summer : 84%
R&S

NI 75 - Achievement of 5 or more 

A* - C grades at GCSE or 

equivalent including English and 

Maths

57% 63% 58% �� Best = 58%                   

Worst = 47.5%

CEC is 

2nd best 

authority

Fintan 

Bradley

Based upon 

provisional data only
R&S

NI 87 - Secondary School 

persistent absence rate
5.70% TBC 5.80% �� N/a

Fintan 

Bradley

Q2 figure based 

upon last two terms 

only

R&S

NI 92 - Narrowing the gap 

between the lowest achieving 20% 

in the Early Years Foundation 

Stage Profile and the rest

31.90% 31.60% 31.60% �☺ Best = 30%, 

Worst = 35.9%

33.7% 
(N.West 07/08 

Acad)

Fintan 

Bradley

R&I / Carol 

Sharples

NI 93 - Progression by 2 levels in 

English between Key Stage 1 and 

Key Stage 2

82% 92% 83% �� N/a
Fintan 

Bradley
R&S

NI 94 - Progression by 2 levels in 

Maths between Key Stage 1 and 

Key Stage 2

81% 90% 83% �� N/a
Fintan 

Bradley
R&S

NI 99 - Looked after children 

reaching level 4 in English at Key 

Stage 2

73.7% Sept 

08
No East Target 18% � N/a 67%

Paul 

Mossman 

& Fintan 

Bradley

Only 2 pupils with 

OC2 cohort
Jacqui Hall

NI 100 - Looked after children 

reaching level 4 in mathematics at 

Key Stage 2

58% Sept 08 No East Target 27% � N/a 67%

Paul 

Mossman 

& Fintan 

Bradley

Only 3 pupils with 

OC2 cohort
Jacqui hall

NI 101 - Looked after children 

achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or 

equivalent) at Key Stage 4 

(including English & Maths)

8.30% Sept 

08
No East Target 3%

New for 

CEC
N/a

Paul 

Mossman 

& Fintan 

Bradley

Cohort size very 

small - 26 OC2 only
Jacqui Hall

Other Critical NIS Indicators

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 2
0
0
9
 A
p
ri
l 
- 
J
u
n
e

P
a

g
e
 9

6



NI 45 - Engagement in education 

training and employment by young 

people who offend. (The proportion of 
young people supervised by YOTs who 

are actively engaged in suitable full-time 

education, training or employment.)

66.30%
New for 

CEC

Best = 84.8%, 

Worst = 57.2%

Paul 

Mossman 

& Fintan 

Bradley

YOS / 

Alistair 

Jordan

NI59 - Initial assessments for 

children's social care carried out 

within 7 working days of referral

75.73% Q2 Target 80% 65% � Paul 

Mossman

Emphasis on close 

monitoring continues 

through the monthly 

performance  clinics.  

Extra staff recruited to 

tackle backlog

Joy Ford

NI 60 - Percentage of core 

assessments for children’s social 

care that were carried out within 

35 working days of their 

commencement.

80.12% Q2 Target 80% 66% � Paul 

Mossman

Emphasis on close 

monitoring continues 

through the monthly 

performance  clinics.  

Extra staff recruited to 

tackle backlog

Joy Ford

NI 63 - Stability of Placement of 

LAC - longer term
68% 63% � Worst = 62.5%  

Best = 81.8%
66.50%

Paul 

Mossman

figure is reported as @ 

31 August 09 
Joy Ford

NI 65 - Percentage of children 

becoming the subject of Child 

Protection Plan for a second or 

subsequent time

10%
New for 

CEC

Paul 

Mossman

data not available

Joy Ford

NI 67 - Child Protection Cases 

reviewed in timescale
99% 100% �� Worst = 98% 

Best = 100%
99.40%

Paul 

Mossman data not available
Joy  Ford

NI 103a - Special Educational 

Needs - statements issued within 

26 weeks - excluding exceptions

92% N/a New for CEC
Fintan 

Bradley

NI 114 - Rate of permanent 

exclusions from school
0.07% N/a �☺ Fintan 

Bradley

Primary & Secondary - 

reduction in number of 

permanent exclusions - 

primary - reduction 

from 2 to 1  Secondary - 

reduction from 41 to 37

Other Local Indicators

No of CAF's Completed
142 08/09 

CAFs
200 N/a N/a N/a

Fintan 

Bradley
Tilly Heigh

Children with a Child Protection 

Plan

Paul 

Mossman
Joy Ford

Number of Looked after Children
Paul 

Mossman

Debra 

Sloan

Completion of Reg 33 Visits
New for 

CEC
100% N/a N/a

Paul 

Mossman

Glynis 

Williams

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 2
0
0
9
 A
p
ri
l 
- 
J
u
n
e

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 2
0
0
9
 A
p
ri
l 
- 
J
u
n
e

P
a
g
e
 9

7



Serious Case reviews judged  

inadequate in year to date

New for 

CEC
0 N/a N/a

Paul 

Mossman

Jane 

Brooks

Numbers of children privately 

fostered
5 No East Target Quarter

Paul 

Mossman
Joy Ford

Number of Schools classed as 

inadequate following OFSTED 

Inspection

New for 

CEC

Primary 0 

Secondary 0 

Special 0

Primary 1 

Secondary 0 

Special 0 
�☺ Fintan 

Bradley

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 2
0
0
9
 A
p
ri
l 
- 
J
u
n
e

P
a

g
e
 9

8



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  CHILDREN AND FAMILIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
16 November 2009 

Report of: Borough Solicitor 
Subject/Title: Work Programme update 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 To consider progress with the items identified for the Committee’s Work 

Programme. 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee note the current position with the Work Programme. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is good practice to agree and review the Work Programme to enable effective  
          management of the Committee’s business. 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
7.1 None identified at the moment. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9Page 99



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 
Treasurer) 

 
8.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1 None. 
 
10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 There are no identifiable risks. 
 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1 At the meeting of the Committee on 6 July, Members considered and agreed a 

list of items for the Work Programme.  At the mid point meeting held on 28 
October, the Chairman and Vice Chairman considered the Work Programme 
further and an updated version is now attached.   

 
11.2 Members have now received training on Corporate Parenting, and a 
 visit to the two new children’s residential homes in Crewe has been 
 arranged for Thursday 12 November.  Visits to Children’s Centres are 
 currently being arranged. 
 
11.3 The Task/Finish Panel on Residential Provision is to hold its first 
 meeting on Monday 9 November and a verbal update will be made at 
 the meeting. 
 
11.4 Elsewhere on this agenda, Members have considered the final report 
 of the Task/Finish Panel set up to look at managing school places and 
 the impact of the County Council’s Transforming Learning 
 Communities programme.  As this review is now complete, the 
 Committee may want to establish a Task/Finish Panel, on a 
 proportional basis, to undertake a Scrutiny Review on Family Support 
 Services.   
 
11.5 When determining items for the Work Programme, matters should be 
  assessed against the following criteria : 
 

• Does the issue fall within a corporate priority 
  

• Is the issue of key interest to the public  
 

• Does the matter relate to a poor or declining performing 
service for which there is no obvious explanation  

 

• Is there a pattern of budgetary overspends  
 

• Is it a matter raised by external audit management 

Page 100



Version 1 April 2009 (SH) 

letters and or audit reports. 
 

• Is there a high level of dissatisfaction with the service 
 
If during the assessment process any of the following emerge, then the topic 
should be rejected: 
 

• The topic is already being addressed elsewhere 
 

• The matter is subjudice 
 

• Scrutiny cannot add value or is unlikely to be able to conclude an 
investigation within the specified timescale 

 
 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1 It is good practice to have a Work Programme for the Committee to consider 

and prioritise on a regular basis. 
 
13.0 Access to Information 
 

                           The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting  
                           the report writer: 
 
 
 
 
 Name:           Denise French 
 Designation: Scrutiny Officer 

           Tel No:         01270 529643 
            Email:         denise.french@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 101



Page 102

This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee  
Work Plan 2009-10 – Revised at mid point 28 October 2009 

 

Issue  Priority Comment Date 

Safeguarding and 
Redesign –  
 
Challenges and 
Opportunities, emerging 
work programme, update 
on redesign of integrated 
service delivery 

High Committee to be 
kept updated on all 
current issues; 
 
Task/Finish Panel 
to visit front line 
services (deferred 
for time being) 

Every meeting (if 
applicable); 
16 November 09 

Performance reporting 
(key exceptions – 
red/amber and 
explanations/commentary) 
to include adoption rates, 
staffing information and 
profile of children in 
Cheshire East 

High Submitted to 
Scrutiny on a 3 
monthly basis 

16 November 09 
22 March 2010 

Corporate Parenting – 
training event 

High  Training event held 
on 25 September 09 

Youth Offending 
Inspection 
 
Fostering Inspection 

High Committee to be 
updated when 
Inspections have 
taken place 

16 November 09 
 
 
18 January 2010 

Task/Finish Panel – 
Review of Residential 
Provision - Update 

High Membership 
agreed, first 
meeting to be 
arranged 

16 November 09 

Educational Attainment  Headlines 
submitted when 
available and 
detailed analysis to 
follow 

September 09 
 
 
January 2010? 

TLC Scrutiny Review High Task/Finish Panel 
almost completed 
its work – final 
meeting 26 
October 

16 November 09 

Early Years Funding 
Reform 

Medium Submit results of 
consultation 
exercise to 
meeting when 
available 

18 January 2010 

Post 16 Transfer of 
Funding to Local 
Authorities 

Medium Report to future 
meeting  

18 January 2010 

Children’s Centres Medium Report to meeting 
on provision of 
Children’s Centres 

18 January 2010  
 
 
 

Page 103



Family Support Services Medium Task/Finish Panel 
to be set up when 
TLC Review 
completed 

16 November 09 
 
 
 
 

Transport for Young 
People 

Medium No action required 
at this stage 

 

School Admissions Policy Medium Scrutiny to be a 
consultee when a 
policy has been 
developed 

 

Draft Children’s Plan Medium Scrutiny to be a 
consultee at the 
appropriate time 

 

Teenage Pregnancy – 
reduction  

High Committee to be 
kept updated on 
action taken as a 
result of the visit by 
the National 
Support Team 

18 January/22 March 
2010 

Ofsted Framework High Report on new 
framework to be 
submitted to the 
Committee 

Presentation to 
meeting of 16 
November 09 

Budget  Scrutiny consulted 
on draft budget 

18 January 2010 

Analysis of School 
Performance 

  18 January 2010 

School Status Report   18 January 2010 

Schools White Paper  Presentation 18 January 2010 

 
 
 
 

Other Issues 
 
Visit to Children’s Centres, to take place during end November/December 
Visit to new Children’s Homes, Crewe – arranged for Thursday 12 November 
commencing at 2.00pm 
Lord Laming’s appearance at Parliamentary Select Committee – arrange date to 
watch DVD – 18 January 2010 
 
Dates of Meetings 

 
14 September 2009 
16 November 2009 
18 January 2010 
22 March 2010 
 
 
 
02/11/09 

Page 104



 
FORWARD PLAN 1 NOVEMBER 2009 - 28 FEBRUARY 2010 

 
This Plan sets out the key decisions which the Executive expect to take over the next four months. 
The Plan is rolled forward every month. It will next be published in mid November and will then 
contain all key decisions expected to be taken between 1 December and 31 March 2010 .  Key 
Decisions are defined in the Councils Constitution. 
 
Reports relevant to key decisions, and any listed background documents may be viewed at any of 
the Councils Offices/Information Centres 6 days before the decision is to be made.  Copies of, or 
extracts from these documents may be obtained on the payment of a reasonable fee from the 
following address:- 
 
Democratic Services Team 
Cheshire East Council , 
c/o Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach Cheshire CW11 1HZ 
Telephone:  01270 529736 
 
However, it is not possible to make available for viewing or to supply copies of reports or 
documents, the publication of which is restricted due to confidentiality of the information contained. 
 
A decision notice for each key decision is published within 6 days of it having been made.  This is 
open for public inspection on the Council's Website, Council Information Centres and Council 
Offices. 
 
The law and the Council's Constitution provides for urgent key decisions to be made.  A decision 
notice will be published for these in exactly the same way. 
 
 

Agenda Item 10Page 105



 
Forward Plan 1 November 2009 to 28 February 2010 

 

Key Decision Decisions to be Taken Decision 
Maker 

Expected Date 
of Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

How to make 
representation to the 

decision made 

CE09/10-07 
Free Early 
Years Care for 
Children of 3 - 4 
Years of Age 

To consider the outcome of consultations on 
the single funding formula, as agreed at 
Cabinet on 8 September 2009. 

Cabinet Before 31 Jan 
2010 

Maintained, private and 
voluntary childcare 
providers to be 
consulted on an ongoing 
basis through the Early 
Years Reference Group 
and Schools Forum. 
 
 

John Weeks, Strategic 
Director People 
 

CE09/10-34 
Building Schools 
for the Future 

To consider the implications arising from a 
decision to prepare for and/or enter the 
Building Schools for the Future Programme, 
and to decide whether to apply for early 
entry and commit resources to this. 

Cabinet 3 Nov 2009 With appropriate 
Directorates and 
Members. 
 
 

John Weeks, Strategic 
Director People 
 

CE09/10-35 
Reshaping of 
the Children 
Centre 
Footprints 

To approve changes in the footprint areas 
so they align with the new Local Area 
Partnership boundaries and establish a 
sustainable model of children centre 
delivery in the Authority. 

Cabinet 3 Nov 2009 With Members, Together 
for Children, leisure and 
library services and the 
Primary Care Trust. 
 
 

John Weeks, Strategic 
Director People 
 

P
a
g

e
 1

0
6



 
Key Decision Decisions to be Taken Decision 

Maker 
Expected Date 
of Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

How to make 
representation to the 

decision made 

CE09/10-36 
Sites Surplus to 
Children and 
Families 
Requirements 

To declare the following sites surplus to 
educational requirements: - 

• Former Oaklands School, Wilmslow 

• Church Lawton Primary School, 
Alsager 

• Former Victoria High School, Crewe 
(Ludford, Newdigate, Meredith and 
Oakley Centres) 

• Former Broad Street Infant School, 
Crewe 

Cabinet 10 Nov 2009 None at this stage. 
 
 

John Weeks, Strategic 
Director People 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
7



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Challenges and Opportunities - Improving Outcomes for Children in Cheshire East
	6 Scrutiny Review - Managing the Provision of School Places - Report on Transforming Learning Communities (TLC) and its implications for Cheshire East Council by the Task & Finish Group
	Task & Finish Group Report 30 10 09

	7 Inspection of Youth Offending Services
	Cheshire YOS HMIP Inspection 2009 appendix

	8 Children & Families Performance Score Card & Local Authority Ofsted Profile
	PERFORMANCE Appendix A DAY 19 10 09
	Performance report Appendix B
	Performance report Appendix C

	9 Work Programme update
	C and F ScrutinyCommitteeworkprogramme - update from mid point meeting

	10 Forward Plan - extracts

